



DOCTORAL SCHOOL BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

Doctoral Thesis in Translational Oncology XXXII Cycle A joint degree by Università degli Studi di Genova and KU Leuven

# Assessment of mammary adiposity in breast cancer using digital pathology

Edoardo Isnaldi

Supervisors: Prof. Dr. Gabriele Zoppoli<sup>1,2</sup>, Prof. Dr. Christine Desmedt<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties, University of Genova, IT-16132, Genova, Italy.

<sup>2</sup>Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS per l'Oncologia, IT-16132 Genoa, Italy.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Oncology, Laboratory for Translational Breast Cancer Research, KU Leuven, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium.

May 2021

# Contents

| Summary  |
|--|
| Sommario 4   |
| List of Abbreviations  |
| List of Figures  |
| List of Tables   |
| Introduction   |
| Breast cancer incidence and current management: a short overview     |
| The impact of obesity on breast cancer12                             |
| Molecular mechanisms linking obesity to breast cancer17              |
| Obesity and tumor microenvironment 20                                |
| Mammary adipose tissue and adipocytes 22                             |
| State of the art in adipocytes measurements 25                       |
| Aims and Objectives  |
| Digital analysis of distant and cancer associated mammary adipocytes |
| Discussion   |
| Conclusions and Future Perspectives                                  |
| References   |
| Statements   |
| Personal Contribution  |
| Scientific Acknowledgements  |
| Conflicts of Interest  |
| List of Publications   |

# Summary

Increased adiposity is a significant risk factor for many cancers, including breast cancer. Patients with breast cancer who are overweight or obese have an increased risk of recurrence, and breast cancer-related mortality. While several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the biological mechanisms that drive the obesity-breast cancer interconnections, progress in our understanding of the adipose tissue tumor microenvironment and its relevance to breast cancer initiation and progression or the emergence of resistance to therapy has been limited.

In parallel to major breakthroughs on the increased adiposity as a risk and prognostic factor for several diseases and cancers, researchers have begun to utilize digital pathology to characterize the tumor microenvironment in diverse types of adipose tissue-rich neoplasia. Pioneering studies have uncovered the existence of a peculiar type of adipocytes named cancer-associated adipocytes in the microenvironment of tumors that grow in close contact with adipose tissue. At the time this thesis was started, only a few studies with small cohorts of patients and often, a limited number of adipocytes analyzed, mostly distant from the tumor, have shown the importance of the adipose tissue tumor microenvironment. However, an indepth knowledge was currently lacking for breast cancer.

The work presented here harnesses the strength of digital pathology and state of the art of adipocyte measurement tools to analyze adipocytes in the adipose tissue microenvironment of breast cancer. Beyond providing histopathological criteria for adipocyte analysis, these results suggest that the analysis of mammary cancer-associated adipocytes is feasible using image analysis software. Moreover, our analyses reveal that cancer-associated adipocytes are smaller than distant adipocytes, reflecting the delipidation process undergone by cancer-associated adipocytes. The body mass index of the patient is associated with the size of distant and cancer-associated adipocytes giving new insights in the evaluation of mammary adiposity of a patient.

The data presented here are too preliminary to derive practice-changing evidence but provide the basis for performing adipocyte analysis on larger number of patients and support the concept that the evaluation of adipose tissue should be taken into account in breast cancer management.

3

# Sommario

L'obesità è un fattore di rischio significativo per molti tumori, compreso il carcinoma della mammella. I pazienti con carcinoma della mammella che sono sovrappeso o obesi hanno un aumentato rischio di recidiva e di mortalità correlata al tumore. Sebbene siano state proposte diverse ipotesi per descrivere i meccanismi biologici alla base dell'interazione tra obesità e carcinoma della mammella, i progressi nella comprensione del microambiente tumorale e del ruolo degli adipociti presenti in esso e della loro rilevanza per lo sviluppo e la progressione tumorale o per l'emergere di resistenze alle terapie sono ancora limitati.

Parallelamente alle importanti scoperte sull'obesità come fattore di rischio e fattore prognostico per diverse malattie e tipi di tumore, i ricercatori hanno iniziato a utilizzare la patologia digitale per caratterizzare il microambiente tumorale. Studi pionieristici hanno scoperto l'esistenza di un tipo particolare di adipociti chiamati adipociti associati al tumore presenti nel microambiente di tumori che crescono a stretto contatto con il tessuto adiposo. Nel momento in cui è stata scritta questa tesi, solo pochi studi con piccole coorti di pazienti e spesso, un numero limitato di adipociti analizzati, per lo più distanti dal tumore, hanno mostrato la rilevanza del tessuto adiposo e degli adipociti come componente del microambiente tumorale. Tuttavia, allo stato attuale manca ancora una conoscenza approfondita del ruolo degli adipociti nel carcinoma della mammella.

Lo studio presentato in questa tesi descrive le potenzialità della patologia digitale e fornisce una rappresentazione dello stato dell'arte sui software con algoritmi dedicati per la misurazione degli adipociti, con una attenzione per gli adipociti presenti nel microambiente di carcinomi mammari. Oltre a stabilire criteri istopatologici per l'analisi degli adipociti, i risultati presentati dimostrano che è possibile effettuare l'analisi degli adipociti associati al tumore come di quelli distanti, utilizzando un software di patologia digitale. Inoltre, abbiamo mostrato che gli adipociti associati al tumore sono più piccoli degli adipociti distanti, riflettendo il processo di delipidazione subito dagli stessi. Infine, l'indice di massa corporea del paziente è associato alle dimensioni degli adipociti distanti e associati al tumore, fornendo nuove prospettive per la valutazione dell'adiposità mammaria di un paziente. I dati qui presentati, sono preliminari per un cambiamento diretto nella pratica clinica, ma forniscono i criteri per eseguire l'analisi degli adipociti su coorti più ampie di pazienti ed evidenziano l'importanza della valutazione del tessuto adiposo nella gestione del carcinoma della mammella.

# List of Abbreviations

| ASCs  | Adipose-Derived Stromal/Stem cells       |
|-------|--|
| AT    | Adipose Tissue                           |
| BC    | Breast Cancer                            |
| BMI   | Body Mass Index                          |
| BMAT  | Bone Marrow Adipose Tissue               |
| CAFs  | Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts            |
| CLS   | Crown-Like Structure                     |
| СТ    | Computerized Tomography                  |
| DCIS  | Ductal Carcinoma In Situ                 |
| E1    | Estrone                                  |
| E2    | 17-b-Estradiol                           |
| ECM   | Extracellular Matrix                     |
| ER    | Estrogen Receptor                        |
| EU    | European Union                           |
| FFAs  | Free-Fatty Acids                         |
| HER2  | Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 |
| H&E   | Hematoxylin and Eosin                    |
| ICIs  | Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors             |
| IGF-1 | Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1             |
| IL-6  | Interleukin 6                            |
| INF-γ | Interferon Gamma                         |
| ΜΑΤ   | Mammary Adipose Tissue                   |
| MRI   | Magnetic Resonance Imaging               |
| pCR   | Pathological Complete Response           |
| PR    | Progesterone Receptor                    |
| SAT   | Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue              |

| TAMs  | Tumor-Associated Macrophages   |
|-------|--------------------------------|
| TILs  | Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes |
| TME   | Tumor Microenvironment         |
| TNBC  | Triple Negative Breast Cancer  |
| TNF-α | Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha    |
| US    | United States                  |
| VAT   | Visceral Adipose Tissue        |
| WAT   | White Adipose Tissue           |
| WHO   | World Health Organization      |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1. Adipocytes located at the invasive front of the tumor                            |
|--|
| Figure 2. Adipocytes located at a distance > 2 mm from the tumor                           |
| Figure 3. Example of damaged adipose tissue not suitable for adipocyte analysis            |
| Figure 4. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO 37       |
| Figure 5. Intra-mammary heterogeneity of distant and cancer-associated adipocytes40        |
| Figure 6. Plots of the size difference between distant and cancer-associated adipocytes 41 |
| Figure 7. Distribution of adipocyte sizes in ten patients according to BMI                 |
| Figure 8. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO®46       |
| Figure 9. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO®47       |
| Figure 10. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by Adiposoft and HALO <sup>®</sup> 48     |
| Figure 11. Cumulative distribution of CAAs and distant adipocytes area                     |
| Figure 12. Cumulative distribution of CAAs and distant adipocytes diameter                 |

# List of Tables

| Table 1. Meta-analysis and national studies investigating obesity-breast cancer risk and   |      |
|--|------|
| obesity-breast cancer prognosis.   | . 16 |
| Table 2. Clinical studies evaluating adipocytes in breast cancer patients.                 | . 28 |
| Table 3. Comparison of the counting results of AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO <sup>®</sup> | . 38 |

# Introduction

#### Breast cancer incidence and current management: a short overview

Breast cancer (BC) is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in Western Countries. To give an order of magnitude, in the European Union (EU), over 355,000 women are estimated to be diagnosed with BC in 2020[1]. BC also represents the first cause of cancer-related death in women with more than 90,000 deaths every year in the EU[2]. Mortality rates vary worldwide, and they have decreased in the last decades with the advent of more accurate prognostic predictors and with the introduction of novel treatments. Despite that, a considerable percentage of patients, between 20% and 30%, still fail to respond to treatments and die as a consequence of the development of distant metastases[3].

BC is a heterogenous disease with distinct clinical and molecular subtypes. The traditional BC management involves the evaluation of several clinico-pathological variables such as age, tumor size, axillary lymph node involvement, histopathological features (especially histological grade and lympho-vascular invasion) and key markers such as estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), and Ki67. Taken together this information allows to identify three clinical phenotypes with different behaviors and treatment strategies: hormone receptor positive (HR<sup>+</sup>, ER<sup>+</sup> and/or PR<sup>+</sup>), HER2 positive (HER2<sup>+</sup>) and triple negative (TNBC: ER<sup>-</sup>, PR<sup>-</sup>, HER2<sup>-</sup>) BC. Patients with ER<sup>+</sup> BC generally benefit from endocrine therapy. Similarly, patients with HER2<sup>+</sup> BC may benefit from anti-HER2 targeted therapy. Instead, the standard treatment for TNBC is based on chemotherapeutic agents. There are no targeted treatments available for this tumor type, at least in the early setting. There exist four molecular subtypes based on gene expression profile that partially overlap with the above-mentioned clinical subtypes: Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2<sup>+</sup>, and triple negative. This last molecular subtype, in turn, has been divided into seven molecular subtypes by Lehman and colleagues: immunomodulatory, mesenchymal, mesenchymal stem-like, luminal androgen receptor, unstable, basal-like 1 and basal-like 2 subtypes[4]. Thereafter, a refined sub-classification of the previous one was still proposed by Lehman and colleagues identifying 4 molecular subtype: basal-like 1, basal-like 2, luminal androgen receptor and mesenchymal[5]. These molecular subtypes differ with regard to their patterns of gene expression, clinical features, response to treatment, and prognosis[6-9]. In the last years,

prognostic tests based on multigene signatures such as MammaPrint<sup>®</sup> (Agendia) and the Oncotype DX<sup>®</sup> Breast Recurrence Score (Exact Sciences Corp.) have been introduced[10]. Large-scale studies have shown that these tests can potentially help to guide treatment[11,12].

BC not only consists of neoplastic cells, but also of significant alterations in the surrounding stroma or tumor microenvironment (TME). These alterations in various cells of the TME such as lymphocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, adipocytes and other cells types, are now recognized as a critical element for BC development and progression, as well as potential therapeutic targets[13]. For instance, the evaluation of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in the TME has added important prognostic and predictive information to current BC management[14–16]. The recent introduction of immunotherapy, especially immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), for the treatment of metastatic TNBC, has shown the important role of the TME in developing and modulating an anti-tumor response[17]. ICIs are novel agents that boost the immune system including the immune cells infiltrated in the TME[18,19]. Other cells present in the TME such as cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), have been described in previous studies and are under investigation as potential target for cancer therapy[20]. More recently, adipocytes are gaining increasing attention due to the fact that they represent a major component of the TME in several types of cancer, specifically in BC. Also, the breast is a unique structure mostly composed of adipose tissue (AT) and adipocytes can interact with tumor cells and other cells from the TME[21]. The author will refer along the text to the white adipose tissue (WAT), without mentioning other types of AT, since WAT is the most represented AT in the body and the most studied as involved in several diseases including cancer[22].

#### The impact of obesity on breast cancer

Obesity is a complex preventable disease and a global public health problem. Over a third of the world's population is overweight or obese and a recent study estimated that by 2030 nearly 1 in 2 adults will have obesity in the United States (US)[23,24] and 1 in 3 adults in the EU[25]. Moreover, obesity and even more severe obesity are more prevalent in women than men in the US[24]. Obesity is typically defined as an excessive fat accumulation and it is categorized according to the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria in terms of Body Mass Index (BMI, kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Overweight individuals have a BMI ranging from 25 to 29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and obese individuals have a BMI greater than or equal to 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>[26]. Obesity is frequently subdivided into sub-categories with extreme or severe obesity defined by a BMI  $\geq$  40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>[26].

Obesity is recognized as one of the major risk factors for several types of cancer, including BC, especially in the post-menopausal HR<sup>+</sup> population[27,28]. The effect of obesity on BC risk differs according to menopausal status and disease subtypes. Several studies have shown a stronger association between increased BMI and a higher incidence of post-menopausal HR<sup>+</sup> BC (33% increase of BC risk per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> BMI increment) whereas the risk for post-menopausal ER<sup>-</sup> and TNBC seems to be minimally or inversely associated[29–31]. By contrast, an inverse association between obesity and pre-menopausal HR<sup>+</sup> BC was observed (8-10% decrease of BC risk per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> BMI increment) whereas pre-menopausal TNBC showed a higher BC risk[29,32,33]. Overweight and obesity not only impact the risk of developing BC, but also the prognosis and treatment efficacy of patients with BC. Obesity is a prognostic factor for worse clinical outcome independent from the menopausal status[34,35]. A large meta-analysis showed that obesity at the time of BC diagnosis was associated with an increased risk of total mortality and with an increased risk of BC mortality[36]. The increased mortality risk in obese women was mostly observed for HR<sup>+</sup>/luminal subtypes[37], while there are contrasting results regarding the increased mortality in TNBC obese women[38,39]. In contrast, a recent study showed that obesity was associated with worse prognosis in all molecular subtypes[40]. Furthermore, a few studies have shown that obesity was associated with an increased rate in distant, but not loco-regional recurrences[34,41]. A list of the most relevant studies evaluating the impact of the obesity on BC risk and prognosis is reported in Table 1.

Obesity also affects response to therapeutic treatments. Although some studies have shown that obese patients are often under treated due to the concerns about potential treatment toxicities[42], several pre-clinical studies have demonstrated that the TME can contribute to treatment resistance in obese patients[43–47]. A retrospective analysis of a large clinical trial showed that obese patients treated with taxane-based regimens had a worse outcome compared to lean patients, while no differences were observed in patients treated in the arms without taxanes[48]. Furthermore, another study showed that there might be a change in pCR rate according to BMI in patients with TNBC and high TILs levels treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. A higher pCR rate was observed in lean patients in comparison to overweight/obese patients[49]. Finally, there is some evidence that obesity might also affect endocrine therapy response. An exhaustive review of Jiralerspong and Goodwin summarized the main findings of several clinical trials showing a trend of less efficacy of anastrozole in post-menopausal overweight/obese women compared to lean women that it was not observed for letrozole[28].

Most of the studies that evaluated the links between obesity and BC risk/BC outcomes used BMI as main measure of patient's adiposity. BMI is easy to measure, inexpensive, strongly correlated with body fat at population level and provides standardized definitions for lean, overweight and obese categories[50]. By contrast, it is considered a surrogate marker of adiposity because it does not reflect accurately the body composition of an individual, failing to distinguish between muscle mass and fat mass[51]. In addition, it does not consider fat localization, age and ethnic differences. For these reasons, the impact of patient's adiposity on BC risk and BC outcomes might be greater. Complementary measures of assessment of body fat distribution have been evaluated and have gained interest in the last two decades: waist circumferences, waist to hip ratio, waist to height ratio, dual energy x-ray absorptiometry, bioelectric impedance, computerized tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)[52–54]. All these methods add specific information regarding body fat distribution compared to BMI, but they have some limitations such as the cost, the under or the overestimation of a specific fat depot, and the lack of standardization. A recent observational study showed that information on muscle quantity and adiposity from clinically acquired CT scans provide significant prognostic information that outperforms BMI[55]. CT and MRI are now considered to be the most accurate methods for measuring body composition (fat and muscle mass), but their use is still limited to research purposes[56]. Lastly, it was observed, in several studies, that the size of the mammary adipocytes was strongly correlated with BMI[57–59]. Thus, histological measuring of adipocytes, might be a valid indicator of patient's adiposity as well as giving information on health status and type of AT expansion.

Overall, obesity has a significative impact not only on BC risk and mortality, but also on therapeutic management. To date, current BC treatments do not consider the patient's adiposity. Therefore, there is an urgent need to find novel treatments and to optimize the existing treatments according to patient's adiposity, together with more meaningful assessments of body (fat) composition at individual level.

|                          | Author (year, journal)                               | Study type and population  | Focus   | Results  |
|--------------------------|--|--|---|--|
| Obesity and BC risk      | Park et al.[31]<br>2020, Breast Cancer Res Treat     | 1,418,180 premenopausal and<br>4,854,187 postmenopausal<br>Korean women.<br>All BC subtypes  | To examine the association between obesity and BC   | In postmenopausal women, there was a positive association between obesity and BC risk (HR: 1.28, $Cl_{95\%}$ : 1.25 – 1.32). An inverse association was present between obesity and BC risk in premenopausal women (HR: 0.95, $Cl_{95\%}$ : 0.91 – 0.98)   |
|                          | Pierobon et al.[33]<br>2012, Breast Cancer Res Treat | Meta-analysis of case-case and<br>case-control studies<br>24,479 BC<br>3,845 TNBC  | To analyze the association between TNBC and obesity   | There was a greater risk in pre-menopausal<br>women of developing a TNBC than non-<br>obese women (OR: 1.43, Cl <sub>95%</sub> : 1.23 – 1.65)  |
|                          | Suzuki et al.[29]<br>2009, Int J Cancer              | Meta-analysis of cohort and case<br>control studies. Pre- and<br>postmenopausal BC patients.<br>All BC subtypes                                    | To clarify the association between<br>BMI and the incidence of BC<br>defined by ER/PR status of the<br>tumors   | In premenopausal women there was a 20% lower risk for the development of ER <sup>+</sup> PR <sup>+</sup> BC. In postmenopausal women there was 82% increased risk for ER <sup>+</sup> PR <sup>+</sup> BC. Each increment in the BMI by 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> was associated with 10% lower risk of premenopausal and 33% increased risk of postmenopausal BC   |
|                          | Renehan et al.[32]<br>2008, The Lancet               | Meta-analysis of prospective studies<br>of incidence cases of 20 cancer<br>types<br>23,909 postmenopausal BC women<br>7,930 premenopausal BC women | To determine the risk of cancer<br>associated with a 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup><br>increase in BMI   | A 5 kg/m² increase in BMI was weaker<br>associated with post-menopausal BC (RR:<br>1.12, IC <sub>95%</sub> : 1.08 – 1.16)  |
| Obesity and BC prognosis | Lohmann et al.[40]<br>2021, J Natl Cancer Inst       | Meta-analysis of 27 studies<br>108,908 BC women<br>All BC subtypes   | To evaluate the association of BMI<br>with outcomes in non-metastatic<br>BC across the spectrum of IHC<br>defined BC subtypes (HR <sup>+</sup> HER2 <sup>-</sup> ,<br>HER2 <sup>+</sup> , and TNBC) in women<br>receiving adjuvant<br>therapies | Obesity was associated with modestly worse<br>DFS and OS in all BC subtypes.<br>ER <sup>+</sup> /PgR <sup>+</sup> HER2- (DFS, HR: 1.26, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.13 –<br>1.41; OS, HR: 1.39, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.20 – 1.62)<br>HER2 <sup>+</sup> Any ER/PgR (DFS, HR: 1.16, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.06 –<br>1.26; OS, HR: 1.18, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.05 – 1.33)<br>TN (DFS, HR: 1.17, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.06 – 1.29; OS, HR:<br>1.13, Cl <sub>95</sub> : 1.13 – 1.53) |

|                          | Author (year, journal)                              | Study type and population  | Focus   | Results  |
|--------------------------|---|--|---|--|
| Obesity and BC prognosis | Pan et al.[37]<br>2014, J Clin Oncol                | Meta-analysis of 21 pooled trials<br>(EBCTCG data)<br>80,000 BC women<br>All BC subtypes | To investigate the association<br>between BMI and the risk of<br>mortality  | BC specific mortality is worse in<br>premenopausal obese patients with ER <sup>+</sup> BC<br>(RR: 1.34, Cl <sub>95%</sub> : 1.22 – 1.4); no differences in<br>postmenopausal patients  |
|                          | Chan et al.[36]<br>2014, Ann Oncol                  | Meta-analysis<br>213,075 BC women<br>All BC subtypes                                     | To explore the associations<br>between BMI and the risk of total<br>and cause-specific mortality,<br>overall and in women with pre-<br>and postmenopausal<br>BC | Obesity is associated with poorer OS in pre (RR: 1.75, $CI_{95\%}$ : 1.26 – 2.41), and postmenopausal BC women (RR: 1.34, $CI_{95\%}$ : 1.18 – 1.53) and is associated with poorer BC survival (global RR: 1.35, $CI_{95\%}$ : 1.24 – 1.47)                              |
|                          | Ewertz et al.[34]<br>2011, J Clin Oncol             | 18,967 BC women (DBCG data),<br>All BC subtypes  | To characterize the impact of<br>obesity on the risk of BC<br>recurrence and death  | The risk of developing distant metastases<br>after 10 years was increased by 46% (HR:<br>1.46, $Cl_{95\%}$ : 1.11 – 1.92), and the risk of dying<br>as a result of BC after 30 years was increased<br>by 38% for obese BC women (HR: 1.38, $Cl_{95\%}$ :<br>1.11 – 1.71) |
|                          | Protani et al.[35]<br>2010, Breast Cancer Res Treat | Meta-analysis<br>Number of patients: not specified<br>All BC subtypes                    | To determine the effects of obesity<br>on survival in newly diagnosed BC<br>patients  | Obese BC women have a poorer OS and<br>BCSS compared with non-obese women (HR:<br>1.33, Cl <sub>95%</sub> : 1.21 – 1.47), (HR: 1.33, Cl <sub>95%</sub> :<br>1.19 – 1.50)   |

Table 1. Meta-analysis and national studies investigating obesity-breast cancer risk and obesity-breast cancer prognosis.

The larger and most relevant studies are reported in the table.

Abbreviations: BCSS, breast cancer–specific survival; BMI, body mass index; DBCG, Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group, EBCTG, Early Breast Cancer Trialists Collaborative Group; ER, estrogen receptor; HR, hazard ratio; IHC, immunohistochemically; RR, risk ratio; TN, triple-negative; OR, odds ratio; OS, overall survival

#### Molecular mechanisms linking obesity to breast cancer

The molecular mechanisms and the pathways involved in BC development and progression have not been fully elucidated yet in adipose-rich women. Several studies have hypothesized and described possible mechanisms[60–62]. Some of these mechanisms are shared by other cancer types and diseases linked to obesity. The main candidate mechanisms are discussed below, except for the role of TME and adipocytes in obesity-associated chronic inflammation that will be discussed in a separate paragraph.

**Estrogens**. 17-b-estradiol (E2) and estrone (E1) are the two main estrogens produced in premenopausal and post-menopausal women. Aromatase is the key enzyme presents in AT, that mediates the conversion of androgens to estrogens and its activity is higher in the expanded AT of obese women[63]. AT contributes up to 100% of circulating estrogens in postmenopausal women whereas the ovaries are the major source of estrogens in premenopausal women[64]. Estrogens are one of the major factors for post-menopausal ER<sup>+</sup> BC risk. In particular, a recent study showed for the first time how E2 and E1 act in pre and postmenopause. The pro-inflammatory effect of higher levels of E1 that occur in post-menopausal and obese women are unopposed by the anti-inflammatory effects of E2, predominant in premenopausal women[65]. Therefore, the declining E2:E1 ratio after menopause and the increased inflammatory cytokine environment, in obesity, might in part explain why obese women are exposed to an increased risk of developing ER<sup>+</sup> BC after menopause and not before. Another hypothesis is that obese women have a significant disruption in the menstrual cell cycle resulting in less exposure to estrogens than normal weight women, therefore leading to a decreased ER<sup>+</sup> BC risk[66,67].

<u>Adipokines</u>. Adiponectin and leptin are the two major adipokines secreted by adipocytes. In normal condition, they contribute to maintain a metabolic homeostasis. In obese individuals, metabolic homeostasis is commonly disrupted with an increase of leptin, not counterbalanced by an increase of adiponectin[68]. Adiponectin is protective against cancer, having anti-inflammatory, anti-proliferative, insulin-sensitizing properties and promoting a healthy AT expansion[61,68]. By contrast, leptin whose levels are correlated to the fat mass, activates several signaling pathways such as JAK/STAT, MAPK/ERK, and PI3K/AKT involved in tumor

development and progression[69]. In addition, leptin, at high concentration, can increase aromatase activity fostering higher level of estrogens in obese women[70].

Insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) pathway. Several metabolic pathways are dysregulated in obese women. In particular the IGF-1/IGF-1R pathway seems to be one of the most relevant in contributing to breast carcinogenesis[71]. IGF-1 levels are increased in obese women as a consequence of hyperinsulinemia, a common condition in obese women affected by metabolic syndrome[72]. Moreover, IGF-1 is tightly linked to ER increasing the transcriptional activity of ER and it also can act in synergy with estradiol inducing a mitogenic response in breast epithelial cells[73]. A recent study has not only shown that there was an association between higher levels of IGF-1 and BC development, but also, that IGF-1 was likely to be a cause of the disease[74].

Metabolic Inflammation. Most obese women present with a systemic and chronic low-grade inflammation termed metabolic inflammation. Obese MAT is characterized by several immune-metabolic changes including hypertrophy of adipocytes and the presence of crownlike structures (CLS)[75]. CLS are defined by the presence of CD68<sup>+</sup> macrophages surrounding necrotic adipocytes. CLS are considered as a histologic marker of AT inflammation and are associated with obesity, post-menopausal status[76], aromatase activity[77,78] and insulin resistance[79]. The incidence of CLS in BC patients is ~50% and it is higher in overweight and obese women with an incidence of 53-70% and 75%-90%, respectively [75,76,80]. Of interest, the presence of CLS has been described in a not negligible percentage, around 34-39%, of lean women defined as metabolically-obese normal-weight women[76,78]. Furthermore, a study showed that the presence of CLS was higher in patients who received neoadjuvant chemotherapy compared to patients who did not receive neoadjuvant chemotherapy[76]. Most of the studies evaluated CLS on mastectomy specimens of BC patients[76,81]. On the contrary, Vaysse et al, evaluated CLS on both lumpectomy and mastectomy specimens, and found CLS, mainly in overweight/obese women with low grade tumors treated with breast conservative surgery[58]. Overall, the presence of CLS in MAT may contribute to generate a pro-inflammatory environment favorable to BC initiation and progression. Moreover, the hypoxia in expanding MAT may trigger inflammatory responses[82], suppressing the synthesis of anti-inflammatory adipokines such as adiponectin[83] and increasing the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6)[84]. Iyengar and colleagues reported that MAT inflammation was associated with short overall survival and short recurrence-free survival in BC[79]. A recent study showed that the presence of free fatty acids (FFAs), often elevated in the blood of obese women, increased the risk of  $ER^+$  BC in the obese postmenopausal population through  $ER\alpha$  and mTOR signaling pathways[85].

Overall, the local and systemic alterations induced by obesity may influence BC development and progression through direct effects on cancer epithelial cells as well as indirect effects on the TME.

#### Obesity and tumor microenvironment

The TME influences cancer development and progression through a bidirectional and dynamic crosstalk between cells constituting the TME and cancer cells. Mammary TME consists of 1) a cellular compartment including cancer cells, adipocytes, fibroblasts, immune cells such as macrophages and lymphocytes, endothelial cells, pericytes, and, 2) a non-cellular compartment mainly constituted of extracellular matrix (ECM)[86]. Adipocytes are a key player orchestrating local changes in the TME of BC and they will be discussed in a separated paragraph. The other main players are the following:

Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). TME defines remodeling of both infiltrating and resident macrophages into TAMs. Up to 90% of macrophages in obese TME are associated with adipocytes hypertrophy and adipocytes necrosis[87,88]. There are two main classicallydescribed phenotypes of macrophage activation: M1 and M2[89]. M1 macrophages respond to a series of stimuli including tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interferon gamma (INFy) secreting specific molecules with pro-inflammatory properties, anti-cancer activity and associated to insulin resistance. Instead, M2 macrophages have different surface markers and respond to another spectrum of stimuli such as IL-4 and IL-10 resulting in anti-inflammatory activity, immune tolerance, insulin sensitivity and promoting tumor development and progression [72]. Besides the classical model of M1/M2 macrophage activation, recent studies have revealed a more complex range of macrophage activation states, and the existence of different macrophage profiles based on BMI, location of AT depots and between non-cancer and cancer patients[49,90]. For instance, subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) of obese individuals exhibits a mixed phenotype characterized by the simultaneous presence of markers that generally belong to M2- and M1- macrophages [91]. Another study showed that obese MAT of non-cancer patients had an increased density of M2-biased or TAM-like macrophages promoted by the remodeling of ECM that occurs in obese individuals[92]. Moreover, Tiwari and colleagues, showed that in MAT of obese TNBC patients, the predominant macrophages phenotype was composed by a mixed phenotype with proinflammatory and pro-tumorigenic characteristics called metabolically activated macrophages[93].

Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). A subpopulation of BC is able to mount an anti-tumor immune response. One of the discriminant features is the ability of T lymphocytes to infiltrate the tumor. TILs of the stromal compartment are generally quantified on hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) stained slides, and the result is a continuous variable expressed as percentage of the stromal surface area occupied by TILs[16,94]. TILs were more frequently observed in highgrade lesions, in TNBC and HER2<sup>+</sup> BC[95,96]. A low TILs infiltrate has been associated with poor outcome in TNBC patients[96,97]. A large pooled analysis has demonstrated that higher levels of TILs predict pathological complete response (pCR) to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in patients from all molecular subtypes, but longer survival only in TNBC and HER2<sup>+</sup> BC[95]. In addition, a recent study showed that a subgroup of systemically untreated patients with early stage TNBC having an excellent prognosis was identified by a TILs cut-off of 30%[98]. In consideration of the consistent findings, TILs have now been integrated in the new WHO classification of breast tumors[99]. Furthermore, recent experimental and human data have revealed that the adiposity of a subject can influence the TME inducing T-cell dysfunction[100].

**Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs).** Fibroblasts are one of the most abundant cell types in tumor stroma and they can become CAFs in the TME. CAFs residing in the TME are heterogeneous cells with different functions (pro or anti-tumor activities) and different surface markers. CAFs can originate from a wide range of cells including CAAs and adipose-derived stromal/stem cells (ASCs), especially in obese patients[101]. CAFs are the major contributor to the remodeling and to the stiffness of ECM observed in tumors[20]. CAFs positively influence the proliferation and metabolism of cancer cells through oxidative stress. CAFs promote angiogenesis, tumor initiation and tumor progression[20,102]. Furthermore, Costa and colleagues identified four CAF subpopulations, according to the expression levels of specific fibroblast markers in a series of BC. They discovered as one of these CAF subpopulations named CAF-S1 might be involved in creating an immunosuppressive environment in BC[103]. Another work showed that some CAFs subpopulations may induce an immune-suppressive TME promoting PD-1<sup>+</sup> TAMs[104].

21

#### Mammary adipose tissue and adipocytes

Adipose tissue is no longer seen as a mere energy depot. It has been recognized to be involved in various biological processes including energy metabolism, neuroendocrine function and immune function. In general, in obese individuals, there is a pathological expansion of WAT that occurs mainly in response to overnutrition. AT presents a considerable heterogeneity across fat depots consisting in different anatomic locations and distinct functions[22]. SAT, the largest fat depot present in the body, and visceral adipose tissue (VAT) are the most well characterized fat depots with regard to the mechanisms of expansion (hypertrophy vs. hyperplasia) and the contribution to metabolic disease.

Mammary adipose tissue is a specialized fat depot that can represent up to 56% of the volume of the non-lactating breast tissue and 35% of lactating breast tissue[105]. It is constituted by adipocytes, the most abundant cell type, and by a stroma-vascular fraction that includes immune cells, fibroblasts, pericytes, endothelial cells, ECM, precursor of adipose cells (preadipocytes and ASCs), and nerve fibers[106]. MAT undergoes physiological remodeling in the context of pregnancy, lactation, post-lactation involution and age-related involution[22,107]. It can also undergo pathological remodeling: in obesity, where MAT becomes dysfunctional and does not expand properly to store the energy excess, and in BC initiation and progression where adipocytes become able to communicate with cancer cells and turn into the so-called cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs), establishing a bidirectional cross-talk with cancer cells[108]. Although it is still under investigation, an interaction between adipocytes and cancer cells might already occurs at pre-invasive stage of BC as it has been hypothesized that the breast-associated adipocytes secretome of obese individuals might be conducive to tumor development and progression[109,110]. In a recent work, we showed the association between adipocyte size and the risk of a subsequent ipsilateral invasive BC after primary DCIS supporting the role of adipocytes in promoting BC[111].

Initially, adipocytes are separated from the normal mammary epithelium by a fibrous layer that during tumor initiation is disrupted bringing the adipocytes in direct contact with cancer cells. The invasive front (IF) of the tumor is a crucial region where adipocytes engage cancer cells in a direct interaction. CAAs located at the IF are defined as peritumoral (Fig. 1) whereas CAAs that are recruited and engulfed by the tumor are defined as intratumoral[112].

22



Figure 1. Adipocytes located at the invasive front of the tumor.

H&E slide scanned at 40x magnification.



Figure 2. Adipocytes located at a distance > 2 mm from the tumor. H&E slide scanned at 40x magnification.

CAAs have distinct phenotypes with respect to their normal counterpart that generally is at a certain distance from the tumor (Fig. 2). CAAs are smaller, with smaller lipid droplets, aberrant secretion of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 $\beta$  as well as proteins involved in ECM remodeling like matrix metalloproteinase 11(MP11)[113]. The hallmark of CAAs is the

delipidation, a process that through the release of FFAs fuels cancer cells growth. Cancer cells, in turn, undergo a metabolic reprogramming with a dramatically increased of use of lipids [114]. In addition, the metabolic symbiosis between adipocytes and cancer cells enhances both ketogenesis in adipocytes and ketolytic activity in BC cells[115]. Ultimately, CAAs may acquire a fibroblast-like phenotype with migratory and invasive abilities and complete disappearance of adipocyte markers contributing to the so-called desmoplastic reaction dense fibrous tissue surrounding the tumor[116]. The transfer of FFAs to cancer cells occurs through three main proteins: CD36 [fatty acid translocase (FAT)], fatty acid binding protein 3 (FABP3) and fatty acid binding protein4 (FABP4)[71]. FFAs can be used by cancer cells as building blocks for newly synthetized membrane phospholipids[117]. In obesity, the CAAscancer cells cross-talk might be amplified, as it was observed that CAAs seem to be more prone to release lipids to cancer cells[114]. Moreover, the amount of lipid transfer might be different according to the tumor subtype, as a recent in vitro study showed that TNBC cell lines had the highest lipid transfer[118]. CAAs has been described to influence BC therapy response through several mechanisms. For example, major vault protein (MVP) is a transport-associated protein present in cancer cells, whose expression is upregulated by adipocytes, especially in obese individuals, and promotes chemotherapy resistance[44]. AT hypoxia is another mechanism of resistance to chemotherapy and also to anti-angiogenic drugs[47,112]. Furthermore, CAAs might promote a radioresistant phenotype in BC cells through the enhancement of IL-6 expression[119].

Collectively, all these findings suggest an important role for CAAs in BC evolution and response to therapeutic agents, that should be further investigated.

#### State of the art in adipocytes measurements

Adipose tissue homeostasis is orchestrated in part by the balance between adipocyte hypertrophy and pre-adipocyte hyperplasia. Both hypertrophy and hyperplasia are related to AT expansion and are known to be involved in a wide range of diseases including several types of cancer[109,120]. Therefore, determining the changes in AT volume deriving from hypertrophic or hyperplastic adipocytes, along with the specific location of AT growth, is important to understand the mechanisms driving obesity and cancer. Since the present work focuses on adipocytes measurements in MAT of BC, an overview of the available techniques for counting and measuring adipocytes in AT samples will first be provided.

Microscopic measurements on conventional histological preparations or fresh-cut AT, automatic counting or sizing of osmium tetroxide-fixed fat cells or collagenase-isolated unfixed adipocytes in a suspension using a Coulter electronic counter are some of the methods that have been described [121–126]. Although no gold standard technique exists for adipocyte counting and size measurements, manual count and manual tracing of cross-sectional area are considered the reference techniques [127]. The major limitation is that these procedures are tedious and extremely time-consuming if performed on a large number of adipocytes. Therefore, several image analysis software have been developed for counting and measuring adipocytes in an automated way. These software rely mainly on histological images. Others automated image analysis tools use cell suspension but the major limitations are the complexity in preparing the suspension and the complete loss of the histopathological context. Instead, one of the advantages of using histological samples is the preservation of AT architecture that is crucial to study the AT TME in cancer and other diseases. In addition, preparation of histological samples have a low cost and histological samples are available for retrospective analysis and other types of analysis such as immunohistochemical staining. On the other hand, some of the possible limitations are the poor fixation and the damaged AT that might result in distorted measurements of adipocytes (Fig. 3)[124,128].



Figure 3. Example of damaged adipose tissue not suitable for adipocyte analysis. H&E slide scanned at 40x magnification.

There exist open-source software dedicated to adipocyte analysis such as AdipoCount[129], Adiposoft[127] developed as a plug-in for ImageJ[130], QuPath[131] and others, or proprietary software including HALO<sup>®</sup> (Indica Labs, Corrales, US) and VisioPharm<sup>®</sup> (Hørsholm, DK). All these software or at least their modules/plug-ins, are built for adipocyte analysis and the majority has been tested on AT of non-cancer patients or obese individuals where the AT is more regular. Few studies tested these software in cancer patients in whom the remodeling of AT driven by cancer is extremely higher and disordered, and adipocytes are intermixed to cancer cells and other cell types. Moreover, most of these studies focused on adipocytes located far from the IF of the tumor. The studies that evaluated adipocyte size in MAT of BC patients are listed in Table 1. Most of the studies are performed on a limited number of adipocytes (~30) due to the inherent limitation of the manual analysis and on adipocytes distant from the tumor. The work of Vaysse et colleagues is the first in the BC field that used an automated software algorithm on a large number of adipocytes[58].

Overall, there is a lack of standardization for measuring adipocytes and a lack of criteria for the histopathological identification of CAAs in BC patients.

| Author (year, journal)                        | uthor (year, journal) Study population/tissue type                            |   | Focus  | Results   |  |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|
|   | and location  | adipocytes  |  |   |  |
| Greenlee et al.[132]<br>2019, Cancer Prev Res | Hispanic/Latin women (n = 137)<br>Breast WAT (distant)                        | Linear Dimensional Tool in Canvas 11<br>(ACS Systems of America, Inc.)<br>30 or more adipocytes per patient   | Association of breast WAT<br>inflammation with<br>adipocyte size, body<br>composition, serum<br>markers  | WAT inflammation was associated<br>with BMI, adipocyte size, smoking<br>history and neoadjuvant<br>chemotherapy, ALT  |  |
| Iyengar et al.[80]<br>2018, Cancer Prev Res   | Taiwanese women (n = 72)<br>Caucasian women (n = 237)<br>Breast WAT (distant) | Linear Dimensional Tool in Canvas 11<br>(ACS Systems of America, Inc.)<br>30 or more adipocytes per patient   | Association of breast WAT<br>inflammation with<br>adipocyte size, body<br>composition and serum<br>markers   | WAT inflammation in Taiwanese<br>women was associated with BMI,<br>adipocyte size, CRP. triglycerides,<br>insulin. Taiwanese women have<br>larger breast adipocytes and lower<br>BMI on average than Caucasian<br>women |  |
| Vaysse et al.[58]<br>2017, NPJ Breast Cancer  | Women (n = 107)<br>Breast WAT (distant)                                       | Adiposoft<br>~ 300 adipocytes per patient   | Association of breast WAT<br>inflammation with<br>adipocyte size, body<br>composition and serum<br>markers   | WAT inflammation correlated with<br>BMI, adipocyte size, CRP (pre-<br>menopausal), triglycerides (post-<br>menopausal)  |  |
| Iyengar et al.[78]<br>2017, Cancer Prev Res   | Normal weight women (n = 72)<br>Breast WAT (distant)                          | Linear Dimensional Tool in Canvas 11<br>(ACS Systems of America, Inc.)<br>30 or more adipocytes per patient   | Association of breast WAT<br>inflammation with<br>aromatase level, adipocyte<br>size, circulating<br>inflammatory factors                                  | WAT inflammation correlated with<br>aromatase activity, adipocyte size,<br>leptin, insulin, triglycerides   |  |
| Dobbs et al.[126]<br>2016, Int J Cancer       | Women (n = 22)<br>Breast WAT (distant and adjacent to BC)                     | Confocal fluorescence microscopy<br>and in-house computerized algorithm<br>in MATLABVR <sup>®</sup> (R2011b,<br>MathWorksV <sup>®</sup> ). Number of<br>adipocytes: not specified | Assessing whether confocal<br>microscopy can identify<br>changes in adipocyte<br>morphology and size near<br>the margins of BC<br>and pre-invasive lesions | Adipocytes adjacent to tumor<br>margins are smaller in area<br>compared to adipocytes far from<br>the margins of BC and compared<br>to adjacent to non-neoplastic<br>collagenous stroma                                 |  |

| Author (year, journal)                      | Study population/tissue type                 | Software/Number of  | Focus  | Results   |  |  |
|---|--|---|--|---|--|--|
|   | and location                                 | adipocytes  |  |   |  |  |
| lyengar et al.[76]<br>2015, Cancer Prev Res | Women (n = 237)<br>Breast WAT (distant)      | Linear Dimensional Tool in Canvas 11<br>(ACS Systems of America, Inc.)<br>30 or more adipocytes per patient | Association of breast WAT<br>inflammation<br>with BMI and menopause  | WAT inflammation was<br>significantly associated with<br>menopausal status and BMI    |  |  |
| Morris et al.[63]<br>2011, Cancer Prev Res  | Obese women (n = 30)<br>Breast WAT (distant) | Linear Dimensional Tool in Canvas 11<br>(ACS Systems of America, Inc.)<br>18 – 42 adipocytes per patient    | Aromatase activity<br>Adipocyte size<br>Serum inflammation<br>marker | The severity of breast<br>inflammation correlated with both<br>BMI and adipocyte size |  |  |

Table 2. Clinical studies evaluating adipocytes in breast cancer patients.

Abbreviations: BC, breast cancer; BMI, body mass index; WAT, white adipose tissue; CRP, c-reactive protein; ALT, alanine aminotransferase

# Aims and Objectives

The previous paragraphs summarized the major findings of the most influential studies which have shaped our understanding of the association of BC and obesity from different perspectives.

In line with the above, the overarching goal of the present research is the application of digital pathology to quantify mammary adiposity in the context of BC by focusing on the most abundant cell type of the adipose tissue, the adipocytes.

The present work was a pilot study to evaluate the feasibility of using digital pathology to measure adipocytes in H&E stained slides of breast tumour and to define criteria for subsequent analyses. We conducted our analysis on ten patients from a cohort of 66 post-menopausal ER<sup>+</sup> BC patients. At the time this work was completed, the analysis of the entire cohort was ongoing. Furthermore, several translational clinical trials developed from our group that were starting to enroll patients or that were in the last phase of approval, will use the adipocyte analysis developed in this work.

Our aims and objectives were as follows:

1. To test the accuracy of multiple software of digital analysis in order to identify the most suitable software tools for adipocyte analysis in BC.

2. To develop histopathological criteria for the recognition of distant and CAAs.

3. To evaluate possible associations between distant and CAAs and patient's adiposity measured as BMI.

The results presented in this thesis have been published on *The Breast*[133]

# Digital analysis of distant and cancer associated mammary adipocytes

## Authors:

Edoardo Isnaldi<sup>1,2,\*</sup>, François Richard<sup>1,\*</sup>, Maxim De Schepper<sup>1</sup>, Delphine Vincent<sup>3</sup>, Sophia Leduc<sup>1</sup>, Marion Maetens<sup>1</sup>, Tatjana Geukens<sup>1</sup>, Giuseppe Floris<sup>4,5</sup>, Ghizlane Rouas<sup>3</sup>, Fatima Cardoso<sup>6</sup>, Christos Sotiriou<sup>3</sup>, Gabriele Zoppoli<sup>2,7</sup>, Denis Larsimont<sup>8,\*</sup>, Elia Biganzoli<sup>9,\*</sup>, Christine Desmedt<sup>1,\*</sup>

## Affiliations:

KU Leuven, Department of Oncology, Laboratory for Translational Breast Cancer Research,
B-3000 Leuven, Belgium.

2. Department of Internal Medicine and Medical Specialties, University of Genoa, IT-16132, Genoa, Italy.

3. Université Libre de Bruxelles, Institut Jules Bordet, J.C. Heuson Breast Cancer Translational Research Laboratory, B-1000 Brussels, Belgium.

4. KU Leuven, Translational Cell and Tissue Research Unit, Department of Imaging and Pathology, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium.

5. University Hospitals Leuven, Department of Pathology, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium.

#### Abstract

Adipocytes and cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs) are poorly investigated cells in the tumor microenvironment. Different image analysis software exist for identifying and measuring these cells using scanned hematoxylin and eosin (H&E)-stained slides. It is however unclear which one is the most appropriate for breast cancer (BC) samples. Here, we compared three software (AdipoCount, Adiposoft, and HALO®). HALO® outperformed the other methods with regard to adipocyte identification, (> 96% sensitivity and specificity). All software performed equally good with regard to area and diameter measurement (concordance correlation coefficients > 0.97 and > 0.96, respectively). We then analyzed a series of ten BC samples (n = 51 H&E slides) with HALO<sup>®</sup>. Distant adipocytes were defined as >2 mm away from cancer cells or fibrotic region, whereas CAAs as the first three lines of adipocytes close to the invasive front. Intra-mammary heterogeneity was limited, implying that measuring a single region of  $\sim$ 500 adipocytes provides a reliable estimation of the distribution of their size features. CAAs had smaller areas (median fold-change: 2.62) and diameters (median fold-change: 1.64) as compared to distant adipocytes in the same breast (both p = 0.002). The size of CAAs and distant adipocytes was associated with the body mass index (BMI) of the patient (area: rho = 0.89, p = 0.001; rho = 0.71, p = 0.027, diameter: rho = 0.87 p = 0.002; rho = 0.65 p = 0.049, respectively). To conclude, we demonstrate that quantifying adipocytes in BC sections is feasible by digital pathology using H&E sections, setting the basis for a standardized analysis of mammary adiposity in larger series of patients.

#### Introduction

Mammary adipose tissue (MAT) represents up to 56 percent of the total breast volume[134] and it is composed of different cell populations such as endothelial cells, fibroblasts, immune cells, pericytes, various stem and progenitor cells in addition to adipocytes[109]. Adipocytes are normally separated from the human mammary epithelium by a layer of specialized stroma in which the terminal ductal lobular units are embedded. This layer is disrupted during tumor initiation/growth, bringing the adipocytes in close contact with BC cells[87]. The so-called cancer-associated adipocytes (CAAs) have unique characteristics as compared to mature adipocytes: they are characterized by fibroblast-like phenotypes, smaller size, reduced lipid content, free fatty acids release and immunomodulatory adipokine secretion[21]. Cancer cells can induce the delipidation of CAAs[70] and undergo a metabolic

reprogramming with a shift from oxidative to lipid metabolism. The two main subpopulations of CAAs are peritumoral adipocytes that are located at the invasive front of the tumor and intratumoral adipocytes that infiltrate into or are engulfed by the tumor[112]. CAAs can also cause resistance to radiotherapy[112] and to chemotherapeutic drugs through different mechanisms[44,135]. All these complex interactions between CAAs and cancer cells seem to be more pronounced in obese patients[87,136].

Obesity has been become increasingly prevalent in most parts of the world over the last decades[137]. Recent projections estimate that nearly 1 in 2 adults will probably be obese by 2030 in the US, and this proportion will even be more accentuated in women[23]. Obese patients mostly have a global dysfunctional state mainly characterized by metabolic and immunologic alterations. This leads to an increased risk for developing various cancers among which BC, especially estrogen receptor (ER)-positive BC in the post-menopausal population[65,138]. Additionally, obesity has been shown to negatively impact the prognosis of BC patients [28,36]. Iyengar and colleagues have observed that the majority of the obese BC patients have a chronic inflammatory state in the MAT[76]. This is characterized by the hypertrophy of adipocytes, the formation of Crown-Like Structures (CLS), which are dying or dead adipocytes surrounded by macrophages, elevated levels of the aromatase enzyme[78], and the presence of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6[58]. Inflammation of the MAT could still be further modulated by physical activity, diet and drugs although data are limited so far[117,139]. Recently, Iyengar et al. demonstrated that even a subgroup of lean patients can present a status of chronic inflammation associated with the MAT[78], emphasizing the limitation of BMI to accurately capture patient's and mammary adiposity. Tools and methods are therefore needed to correctly identify and measure adipocytes and CAAs in order to quantify and characterize mammary adiposity. Intra-mammary comparison of the size of distant adipocytes and CAAs could further be used to quantify the magnitude of adipocyte delipidation.

So far, most studies that aimed to measure mammary adipocytes only considered the largest diameter of a relatively small number of carefully selected adipocytes distant from the tumor, without considering CAAs[58,75,76,78,140]. Acknowledging the limitation in the number of evaluable adipocytes with this manual/semimanual methods, several image analysis software have been developed to automize this process. An important challenge for

32

these software is to analyze CAAs, since they are close to or inter-mixed with other cell types. So far, extensive intra-mammary comparative studies between distant and CAAs using digital pathology have to the best of our knowledge not been performed yet.

In this study, we first compared the characteristics and outputs of three main image analysis software for identifying and measuring adipocytes (AdipoCount[129], Adiposoft[127], and HALO<sup>\*</sup>). Then, using the best platform, we analyzed a series of BC tissues to measure distant adipocytes and CAAs and their potential association with the body mass index (BMI) of the patient.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Patients and slides

We selected a total of 51 H&E slides from ten BC patients treated at the Institut Jules Bordet (Brussels, Belgium). The selection criteria were the following: 1) postmenopausal status of the patient at diagnosis, 2) estrogen receptor (ER)-positive status of the tumor, 3) availability of multiple (at least 2) formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded blocks from primary surgery with distant adipocytes and CAAs, and 4) availability of BMI status of the patient recorded on the day of oncological surgery. BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was categorized according to WHO criteria[26]. We considered only post-menopausal BC ER+ starting from the evidence that obesity is more prevalent in post-menopausal women and the link obesity-BC seems to be tighter in this population. All patients selected had an invasive breast carcinoma, five patients had an invasive breast carcinoma of no special type, commonly referred to as invasive ductal carcinoma, and five patients had an invasive lobular carcinoma. Eight patients had T2 stage at diagnosis and two patients T3. All the patients were treated with neoadjuvant endocrine therapy with letrozole followed by surgery. The age of the patients ranged from 58 to 82 years, with a mean 70.3 years. For nine patients, there were at least three evaluable slides with CAAs and distant adipocytes, and for one patient there were only two. For the first part of the study, we selected an area comprising ~ 100 adipocytes in three test H&E slides taken from this cohort, to compare the three software. For the second part of the study, we analyzed ~500 distant and ~500 CAAs in multiples slides per patient for 10 patients to assess intra-patient and inter-patient heterogeneity (see power calculations in Supplementary Methods). The project has been approved by the ethics committee of the Institut Jules Bordet (CE2844).

#### Digital Pathology and software analysis

H&E stained tissue slides were scanned using a Nanozoomer digital slide scanner (c10730-12, Hamamatsu) with a 40x objective (0.228 µm/pixel). For the software comparison, the test slides were imported as PNG images into AdipoCount, Adiposoft version 1.16 and HALO<sup>®</sup> version 2.3 (Vacuole module, Indica Labs, Corrales, CA). We compared the correct identification of adipocytes, considering visual identification as the gold standard, their areas and diameters. Computation of the area was based on the number of pixels in the object for the three software. The area-output unit was  $\mu m^2$  for Adiposoft and HALO<sup>®</sup> and pixels for AdipoCount. We therefore converted pixels in  $\mu m^2$  multiplying the area in pixels obtained for each object with the area of one pixel in  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>. Diameter-output unit was  $\mu$ m for Adiposoft and HALO<sup>®</sup>. AdipoCount did not provide the diameter. In HALO<sup>®</sup>, an algorithm estimates the centroid of the object, records 18 diameters passing through the centroid of the object at different angles, and then consider the median of those 18 diameters as the final measure. In the current version of Adiposoft, the diameter is an equivalent diameter that assumes roundness of the objects. For the second part of the project, all digital slides were imported as NDPI images into HALO<sup>®</sup> software for subsequent steps, including annotation, segmentation, count and measurements of area and diameter of adipocytes. We extracted the area and diameter of each single adipocyte for each annotated region. We did not include adipocytes with a diameter < 30  $\mu$ m to exclude artefacts[76]. Based on microscopic evidence and literature[126], we defined adipocytes distant from the tumor as those being at least 2 mm away from cancer cells as well as 2 mm away from fibrosis area and epithelial structures. CAAs were defined as the three first lines of adipocytes at the invasive front of the tumor, which are mostly in contact with invasive tumor cells (peri-tumoral CAAs), and as maximum 2 mm within the tumor starting from the invasive front (intra-tumoral CAAs). These criteria were established by an expert breast pathologist (D.L). The areas to be analyzed were drawn by E.I. under the supervision of two breast pathologists, D.L. and M.D.S., according to the aforementioned criteria. We manually excluded adipocytes with incomplete stain of the membrane or adipocytes that touched the border of the image.

#### Statistical analysis

Sensitivity (SS) and specificity (SP) of adipocyte identification were evaluated for each software. For the computation of SS and SP, we considered as true positives (TP), the adipocytes previously manually identified that software recognized correctly. False positives (FP) were fragments of cells or white areas that software recognized incorrectly as adipocytes. True negatives (TN) were fragmented cells or white areas that software did not recognize as adipocytes. False negatives (FN) were manually identified adipocytes that the software did not recognized as such. SS and SP were calculated as TP/(TP+FN) and TN/(TN+FP), respectively. The agreements regarding diameter and area were assessed using the Bland–Altman method, Passing–Bablok regression[141] and concordance correlation analyses. Bland–Altman plots represent the difference of the areas and diameters computed by each software plotted in a head-to-head comparison. In the Passing-Bablok regression lines, intercepts and slopes indicate constant and proportional bias respectively. Associations between continuous and (ordinal) categorical variables were assessed using Wilcoxon and Mann-Kendall tests. Association between adipocyte count and BMI was assessed using Mann-Kendall's tau coefficient when BMI was considered as a categorical variable whereas Spearman correlation coefficient was used when BMI was considered as a continuous variable. McNemar's Chisquared test was used to assess the statistical difference between HALO<sup>®</sup> and the two other software concerning sensitivity and specificity. Statistical analyses were performed using R version 3.5.2.

#### Results

# Comparative analysis of HALO<sup>®</sup>, Adiposoft and AdipoCount for adipocyte identification and measurements

We analyzed three regions comprising ~100 adipocytes in three H&E BC slides using HALO<sup>\*</sup>, Adiposoft and AdipoCount (Fig. 1 and Supplementary Fig. 1-3). We first compared the three software with regard to adipocyte identification. We obtained a high specificity and a high sensitivity with HALO<sup>\*</sup> for all the tested slides (Table 1). In contrast, AdipoCount had a high number of false positives resulting in a low specificity in recognizing CAAs. This software would therefore require a post-processing step to eliminate the objects that are improperly recognized as adipocytes. Adiposoft was characterized by a high number of false negatives,

since it failed to detect adipocytes when the quality of the H&E stain was not optimal (Supplementary Fig. 2E). This software would therefore require a pre-processing for each slide to adjust the image threshold.

We then compared the areas and the diameters computed by the three software considering 20 individual adipocytes per slide. The results were reported in Bland–Altman plots depicting the difference between two software's measurements against their mean. There was no major constant (intercept) or proportional (slope) drift between the three methods, as shown in the Passing–Bablok regression analysis (Fig. 1B,C,F). The concordance correlation coefficients confirmed a substantial concordance between the three methods for both area and diameter (Fig. 1B,C,F, Supplementary Fig. 1B,C,F; Supplementary Fig. 2B,C,F).

To conclude, we opted for HALO<sup>®</sup> for downstream analyses because of its higher specificity and sensitivity in adipocyte recognition and the ease of use, not needing pre- or post-processing steps.



#### Figure 4. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO.

Representative image of a test slide analyzed with AdipoCount (A), Adiposoft (E) and HALO<sup>®</sup> (I). Bland–Altman plots (D, G, H) showing software agreement between two software using area measurement of twenty adipocytes. For each comparison, the averaged area of each adipocyte calculated by software (x axis) is plotted against the difference between the two area measurements of the same adipocyte. The solid and dashed horizontal lines represent the overall geometric mean of the differences and the 95% confidence intervals respectively. Passing–Bablok regressions of adipocyte areas of AdipoCount vs Adiposoft (B), AdipoCount vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (C), and Adiposoft vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (F) are shown. Each comparison is represented by a scatter diagram where the regression line and 95% pointwise confidence bands are superimposed with the identity line (dashed line). The intercept and slope are reported with their 95% confidence intervals (CI). CCC: concordance correlation coefficient.

| Test    | Software   | Manual | Softwar | ТР  | FP | FN | TN | Sensitivity | Specificity | p-value     | p-value     |
|---------|------------|--------|---------|-----|----|----|----|-------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Image   |            | Count  | e Count |     |    |    |    |             |             | sensitivity | specificity |
| Slide 1 |            | 100    |         |     |    |    |    |             |             |             |             |
|         | AdipoCount |        | 123     | 87  | 36 | 13 | 13 | 87.00%      | 26.53%      | 0.002       | <0.001      |
|         | Adiposoft  |        | 114     | 92  | 22 | 8  | 33 | 92.00%      | 60.00%      | 0.132       | <0.001      |
|         | HALO®      |        | 98      | 97  | 1  | 3  | 48 | 97.00%      | 97.96%      | -           | -           |
| Slide 2 |            | 109    |         |     |    |    |    |             |             |             |             |
|         | AdipoCount |        | 140     | 105 | 35 | 4  | 23 | 96.33%      | 39.66%      | 1           | <0.001      |
|         | Adiposoft  |        | 50      | 28  | 22 | 81 | 39 | 25.69%      | 63.93%      | <0.001      | <0.001      |
|         | HALO®      |        | 107     | 105 | 2  | 4  | 56 | 96.33%      | 96.55%      | -           | -           |
| Slide 3 |            | 102    |         |     |    |    |    |             |             |             |             |
|         | AdipoCount |        | 129     | 99  | 30 | 3  | 22 | 97.06%      | 42.31%      | 0.157       | <0.001      |
|         | Adiposoft  |        | 134     | 94  | 40 | 8  | 25 | 92.16%      | 38.46%      | 0.008       | <0.001      |
|         | HALO®      |        | 102     | 101 | 1  | 1  | 50 | 99.02%      | 98.04%      | -           | -           |

Table 3. Comparison of the counting results of AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO<sup>®</sup>.

Manual count is the reference. FN: False negative, FP: false positive, TP: true positive, TN: true negative.

#### Intra-mammary heterogeneity of CAAs and distant adipocytes

We aimed to investigate whether intra-mammary heterogeneity in the size distribution of distant adipocytes and CAAs should be taken into consideration or not. Specifically, we aimed at assessing whether a single region of at least 500 adipocytes would provide a good representation of the adipocytes (distant or CAAs) present in the tissue. To this end, we analyzed ~ 500 distant adipocytes and ~ 500 CAAs in each single digital slide taken from ten BC samples. Intra-patient variability in adipocyte size was low for both CAAs and distant adipocytes, as illustrated in Fig. 2 for one of the patients. We further generated the cumulative distribution of the adipocyte areas and diameters for the ten patients and represented the intra-mammary heterogeneity for both the CAAs and distant adipocytes by displaying the range of adipocyte measurements for each quartile (Supplementary Fig. 4 and 5). Altogether, the cumulative distribution of CAAs and distant adipocytes area in each of the 10 patients revealed small intra-patient variability in each group, which led us to further consider a single region of at least 500 adipocytes (CAAs or distant) to estimate the distribution of the adipocytes in terms of area and diameter.



#### Figure 5. Intra-mammary heterogeneity of distant and cancer-associated adipocytes.

Violin plots and boxplots of adipocytes diameter and adipocytes area of three regions close to the tumor (CAAs, blue) and three regions distant (distant adipocytes, red) in three slides taken from one patient (D, H). Each scanned slide has an annotation layer that shows the selection of adipocytes close to the tumor (A, B, C) and distant from the tumor (E, F, G). CAAs: cancer-associated adipocytes.

#### Comparison of distant adipocytes and CAAs using digital pathology

We compared the diameter and area of CAAs with those from the distant adipocytes (Fig. 3 and Supplementary Table 1 for detailed comparisons at the patient-level). Across all evaluated tumors, the mean diameter was 50.0  $\mu$ m for CAAs and 77.3  $\mu$ m for distant adipocytes and the median diameter was 46.7  $\mu$ m and 76.1  $\mu$ m, respectively (unpaired Wilcoxon test, p < 0.001). The mean area was 2311.8  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> for CAAs and 5537.4  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> for distant adipocytes and the median area was 1881.3  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> and 4853.0  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, respectively (unpaired Wilcoxon test, p < 0.001). Furthermore, comparing CAAs to distant adipocytes within each tumor, we observed that CAAs had smaller areas (median fold-change: 2.62, IQR: 2.15 – 2.65) and diameters (median fold-change: 1.64, IQR: 1.50 – 1.67) as compared to distant adipocytes (paired Wilcoxon test, p = 0.002 and p = 0.002, respectively). Of interest, the reduction in adipocytes diameter and area between distant and CAAs is consistent at each quantile in all samples (paired Wilcoxon tests, p = 0.002 and p = 0.002, respectively) (Fig. 3). These results therefore highlight the consistent reduction in size between distant adipocytes and CAAs, which can be quantified using digital pathology.



Figure 6. Plots of the size difference between distant and cancer-associated adipocytes.

Parallel plots (A, B, C) with associated boxplots (D) show the variations of adipocytes diameters between distant and cancerassociated adipocytes at 25th percentile (A), 50th percentile (B), and 75th percentile (C). Below, parallel plots (E, F, G) with associated boxplots (H) show the variations of adipocyte areas between distant and CAAs at 25th percentile (E), 50th percentile (F), and 75th percentile (G). Each line and each dot correspond to a patient and are colored according to ascending BMI. For each percentile, the p-value from the paired Wilcoxon tests was 0.002 for both diameters and areas. CAAs: cancerassociated adipocytes.

#### Association between CAAs and distant adipocytes measurements and BMI

The distributions of adipocyte measurements for the ten patients according to the BMI are illustrated in Figure 4. We observed a correlation between BMI as a categorical variable (lean, overweight or obese) and adipocyte measurements with regard to area (Kendall's tau = 0.80, p = 0.004 for CAAs, and Kendall's tau = 0.65, p = 0.021, for distant adipocytes) and diameter (Kendall's tau = 0.75 p = 0.007, Kendall's tau = 0.59, p = 0.035, respectively). The correlation was further confirmed when considering BMI as a continuous variable, both with regard to area of CAAs and distant adipocytes (rho = 0.89 p = 0.001; rho = 0.71 p= 0.027, respectively) and diameter (rho = 0.87 p= 0.002; rho = 0.65 p= 0.049, respectively).



#### Figure 7. Distribution of adipocyte sizes in ten patients according to BMI.

Violin plots (A, B) including boxplot that represents the 25th, median and 75th percentiles of diameters for CAAs (A) and distant adipocytes (B) in ten patients ordered by ascending BMI. Violin plots (C, D) including boxplot that represents the 25th, median and 75th percentiles of areas for CAAs (C) and distant adipocytes (D) in ten patients ordered by ascending BMI. The violin plots outlines illustrate kernel probability density, i.e. the width of the colored area represents the proportion of the adipocyte diameters (A, B) and adipocytes areas (C, D). The same color code as in Fig. 3 has been used.

#### Discussion

So far, digital pathology has not yet been applied standardly to measure the distant adipocytes and CAAs in H&E samples from BC patients. Here, we compared different software to detect and measure mammary adipocytes. In addition, we defined criteria to distinguish CAAs from distant adipocytes in breast tumor samples. All the software we tested had a good agreement in the measurement of both the area and the diameter of the adipocytes. However, regarding the adipocyte identification, the highest sensitivity and specificity were reached by HALO<sup>®</sup>, while these were unsatisfactory for the other two software. AdipoCount further does not provide the diameter of the cells and that does not allow setting a lower range for the area in order to avoid false positives, such as interstitial optical empty spaces. Adiposoft failed to identify adipocytes when tested on slides with a lower staining quality of the fat tissue. On the basis of these results, we conducted our subsequent analyses with HALO<sup>®</sup>. In addition, we observed that ~500 adipocytes (distant or CAAs) provide a realistic representation of the adipocyte measurements given the minimal intra-mammary variability. We acknowledge that there might be additional free or commercial digital pathology software able to identify and measure adipocytes, such as QuPath[131] or Visiopharm<sup>®</sup> for example, however these were not considered in this study since they did not have already existing applications for identifying and measuring adipocytes.

Delipidation and the accompanying size reduction of CAAs as compared to distant adipocytes are key features of CAAs[113,142]. However, to the best of our knowledge, the size reduction has never been quantified and evaluated across several breast tumors. Our results clearly show that CAAs are smaller than distant adipocytes, with a median 1.6-fold decrease in diameter and a median 2.6-fold decrease in area when comparing CAAs and distant adipocytes from the same tumor. While this will need to be investigated in larger series, we hypothesize that the magnitude of the decrease in size between distant and CAAs could potentially reflect the strength of the interaction between cancer cells and adipocytes. The reduction of size could be a surrogate of lipid use as energy source by cancer cells[143]. It still has to be investigated whether it is associated with specific clinical, pathological or treatment characteristics which is ongoing.

Finally, we investigated the association between BMI and the size of the CAAs and distant adipocytes. It has been demonstrated that the MAT expands preferentially through the hypertrophy than through the hyperplasia of the adipocytes[144,145]. So far, the studies that investigated the association between BMI and the size of the adipocytes in the MAT of BC patients focused on distant adipocytes only and based their measurements on a limited number of adipocytes[58]. While it is known that BMI might not be the best surrogate marker for the adiposity of a patient, it remains the most commonly used measurement in clinical practice. The hypothesis is that hypertrophy of adipocytes may be a more reliable indicator of a patient's adiposity determining an unhealthy MAT as shown in previous studies[58]. We found a significant correlation between BMI and the diameter and area of both CAAs and

distant adipocytes, with patients with a higher BMI having not only larger distant adipocytes, as previously demonstrated[76], but also larger CAAs.

#### Conclusions

While we reckon that this study is based on a relatively small number of samples and patients, this is, to the best of our knowledge, the first to investigate both CAAs and distant adipocytes by digital software analysis in BC samples. Our study sets the basis for the standardized analysis of larger cohorts of BC patients, providing a more accurate estimation of mammary adiposity. Of interest, this analysis could further be extended to other cancer types that grow in close contact with the adipose tissue, such as soft tissue tumors, renal cancer and upper gastrointestinal tumors.

#### **Supplementary Methods**

#### Statistical analysis

A sample size analysis and a power calculation were performed: 1a) to determine the sample size to assess sensitivity and specificity of the software for recognizing and counting the adipocytes, 1b) to determine the number of adipocytes for the software comparison regarding areas and diameters, and, 2) to compare the distribution of the diameter and area of distant and CAAs according to their means. Concerning the sensitivity and specificity analyses a sample size of 150 objects, of which 100 are adipocytes lead to a power of 90% and 70% with a 0.05 significance level (two-sided) to show a 15% difference in sensitivity and specificity respectively given a proportion of discordant pairs of 20% according to the tests for paired sensitivities PASS procedure. For the comparison of the software regarding adipocyte diameter and area, measuring 20 adipocytes results in 84% power with a 0.05 significance level (one-sided) according to the Lin's concordance correlation coefficient PASS procedure. For point 2, a sample size of 500 adipocytes in each of the two categories distant and CAAs should achieve a power of 90% at a level of significance of 0.05 (two-sided) to detect a difference in means of 0.1 given a standard deviation of 0.4 and 0.5 for log transformed area distribution in CAAs and distant adipocytes respectively according to the two-sample T-tests allowing unequal variance PASS procedure. In term of variance, the same sample size should achieve a power of 90% at level of significance of 0.05 in a F test to detect a ratio of 0.74 from CAAs to distant adipocytes when setting their variances to 0.4 and 0.5 respectively in the tests for two variances PASS procedure. Computation were performed using PASS version 20.0.2.

#### **Supplementary Figures**



#### Figure 8. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO®.

Representative image of a test slide analyzed with AdipoCount (A), Adiposoft (E) and HALO<sup>®</sup> (I). Bland–Altman plots (D,G,H) showing software agreement between two software using area measurement of twenty adipocytes. For each comparison, the averaged area of each adipocyte calculated by software (x axis) is plotted against the difference between the two area measurements of the same adipocyte. The solid and dashed horizontal lines represent the overall geometric mean of the differences and the 95% confidence intervals respectively. Passing–Bablok regression of adipocyte areas of AdipoCount vs Adiposoft (B), AdipoCount vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (C), and Adiposoft vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (F) are shown. Each comparison is represented by a scatter diagram where the regression line and 95% pointwise confidence bands are superimposed with the identity line (dashed line). The intercept and slope are reported with their 95% confidence intervals (CI). CCC: concordance correlation coefficient.



#### Figure 9. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by AdipoCount, Adiposoft and HALO<sup>®</sup>.

Representative image of a test slide analyzed with AdipoCount (A), Adiposoft (E) and HALO<sup>®</sup> (I). Bland–Altman plots (D,G,H) showing software agreement between two software using area measurement of twenty adipocytes. For each comparison, the averaged area of each adipocyte calculated by software (x axis) is plotted against the difference between the two area measurements of the same adipocyte. The solid and dashed horizontal lines represent the overall geometric mean of the differences and the 95% confidence intervals respectively. Passing–Bablok regression of adipocyte areas of AdipoCount vs Adiposoft (B), AdipoCount vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (C), and Adiposoft vs HALO<sup>®</sup> (F) are shown. Each comparison is represented by a scatter diagram where the regression line and 95% pointwise confidence bands are superimposed with the identity line (dashed line). The intercept and slope are reported with their 95% confidence intervals (CI). CCC: concordance correlation coefficient



#### Figure 10. Comparison of adipocytes measurements by Adiposoft and HALO®.

Passing–Bablok regression (A,B,C) of adipocyte diameters of Adiposoft vs HALO<sup>®</sup> of three test slides. Each comparison is represented by a scatter diagram where the regression line and 95% pointwise confidence bands are superimposed with the identity line (dashed line). The intercept and slope are reported with their 95% confidence intervals (CI). CCC: concordance correlation coefficient. Bland–Altman plots (D,E,F) showing software agreement between two software using diameter measurement of twenty adipocytes. For each comparison, the averaged diameter of each adipocyte calculated by software (x axis) is plotted against the difference between the two diameter measurements of the same adipocyte. The solid and dashed horizontal lines represent the overall geometric mean of the differences and the 95% confidence intervals respectively.



Figure 11. Cumulative distribution of CAAs and distant adipocytes area.

Each panel is dedicated to a patient, each curve represents an area of 500 adipocytes. Blue and red curves depict the cumulative distributions of area for CAAs and distant adipocytes respectively. The horizontal dashed lines represent the 25th, median and 75th percentiles from bottom to top respectively. Values provided on each dashed line provide the maximal range observed among the CAAs (blue value) and the distant adipocytes (red value) for the percentile of interest.



Figure 12. Cumulative distribution of CAAs and distant adipocytes diameter.

Each panel is dedicated to a patient, each curve represents an area of 500 adipocytes. Blue and red curves depict the cumulative distributions of diameter for CAAs and distant adipocytes respectively. The horizontal dashed lines represent the 25th, median and 75th percentiles from bottom to top respectively. Values provided on each dashed line provide the maximal range observed among the CAAs (blue value) and the distant adipocytes (red value) for the percentile of interest.

## Discussion

The inflammatory TME of BC is an important driving factor for the progression of the disease and may become a potential target for new and personalized treatments, especially in overweight and obese patients. Most of the theoretical basis for studying the role of adipocytes originates from epidemiological and clinical studies that documented worse outcomes in obese BC patients, with potential differences according to the molecular subtype of tumor and the menopausal status of the patient[30,32]. Although adipocytes may be one of the mediator between obesity and BC, the specific mechanisms still remain to be elucidated[117]. It has already been described that mammary adipocytes tend to be larger (hypertrophied) in obese as compared to lean patients. Dirat and colleagues also reported the plasticity of these cells, by describing for the first time the existence of the so-called CAAs in human cancers[113]. However, so far, there are no defined criteria and methods to quantify mammary adipocytes and CAAs in BC samples. For this reason, we conducted our research on a small group of post-menopausal ER<sup>+</sup> BC women, with the main aim of evaluating the feasibility of using digital pathology to measure adipocytes and CAAs in BC. The analysis of these ten patients sets the standard for digital analysis of adipocytes in all our future studies. At the time of writing, we are concluding the analysis on the entire cohort from which these ten patients are taken, and we will submit the results for publication soon.

The results of the present research are threefold. First, we identified the best software to identify and measure adipocytes in the MAT of BC. We observed that one of the most important limitation was the low quality of the H&E staining or the damaged AT as previously described. For that reason, to have an accurate representation of AT and minimize bias, it is important to exclude slides with damaged AT. In addition, we identified a number of 500 adipocytes as sufficient number to have a good representation of the adiposity of a patient minimizing the intra-patient and intra-slide heterogeneity. We established important criteria for the recognition of CAAs, defining them as located in the first 3-5 lines from the IF and no more than 2 mm deeper in the tumor tissue. We consider that our criteria have a potential impact on other research projects. Furthermore, no previous studies directly measured CAAs at the IF of BC through image analysis software. To our knowledge, we are the first to perform this type of analysis in BC comparing distant and CAAs. Second, we demonstrated that CAAs

are smaller than distant adipocytes, reflecting the delipidation process undergone by CAAs. Third, BMI of the patient was associated with the size of distant adipocytes and CAAs. Of interest, we observed that adipocyte distributions were characterized by a certain overlap between them, especially in the same BMI category, supporting our concept that BMI might not be a reliable estimator of fat cells properties. Moreover, we did not find any difference in adipocytes size according to the histology (ductal vs lobular, results not shown), possibly also due to the small number of the samples that were evaluated. Therefore, open questions remain, such as whether obesity amplifies the metabolic crosstalk between CAAs tumor cells in all BC subtypes and histological subtypes and what the determinants are of this adipocytes size reduction.

There are some limitations in this study that could be addressed in future research. First, the limited small sample size that prevented us to investigate additional associations with clinical and pathological variables. However, we are currently exploring these association on the entire cohort and the results will be presented soon. Second, we did not perform any immunohistochemical or histochemical analysis on our samples. Hence, we identified CAAs exclusively according to morphological and topographic criteria. Third, our cohort was composed of post-menopausal ER<sup>+</sup> BC women treated with neoadjuvant therapy with letrozole. Therefore, we cannot exclude an interaction of letrozole with adipocytes in determining a change in their size. In addition, we also cannot exclude an interaction of other types of treatment used by the patients with adipocytes size. The analysis of the pretreatment biopsies was not possible due to small quantity of AT presented on those samples. Also, the intra-tumoral population of adipocytes was not considered because it was not present in all the samples, but we will further explore it in future studies. In order to have sufficient MAT for this type of analysis, future studies on mammary adipocytes could benefit from adaptations in the surgical breast pathology pipeline. Finally, we recognize the exploratory nature of this work; however, our findings will be the basis to extend the application of digital pathology to measure adipocytes on large clinical trials.

# **Conclusions and Future Perspectives**

In parallel to the present research, I took part in another work where we assessed breast adipose features using digital pathology in a case-control study nested population-based ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) cohort[111]. We showed that women with DCIS and large adipocytes size might have an increased risk of subsequent ipsilateral invasive BC compared to women with DCIS and smaller adipocytes. Although BMI was missing for several patients, this study demonstrated that adipocyte size associated to the presence of CLS, could be a reliable indicator of mammary adiposity and MAT inflammation. This finding might also be relevant for the group of metabolically obese normal-weight women in which BMI is not able to discriminate the inflamed MAT[78]. Taken together, these findings have important implications showing that an altered AT micro-environment preexisting to the tumor might already be an active contributor to BC initiation adding insights to improve the follow-up of women with DCIS.

Another important aspect that should be considered for the future is our currently poor understanding of adipocyte heterogeneity and functional specialization. A few studies, mostly in mice, through single-cell genomics analyzed normal AT identifying an homogenous cell population of ASCs[146] whereas instead there seems to be different subpopulations of preadipocytes and mature adipocytes[147–149]. Currently, none of the large-scale molecular characterization studies of BC have considered patient's adiposity. To overcome this lack of knowledge, our research group have recently started a clinical trial (National Library of Medicine [NLM], NCT04200768)[150] with the aims, using single-nuclei and lipidomics data, to characterize the micro- and macroenvironment of BC according to patient's adiposity in different histological and molecular subtypes. Furthermore, we will use multi-level adiposity measurements among which the measurement of adipocytes size through digital pathology that it was validate with the work described in this thesis. Of interest, we will conduct our analysis also on normal mammary tissue samples as controls in order to dissect the transcriptome of mammary adipocytes (progenitors, mature and CAAs) also according to the presence or not of cancer.

Another study has been recently started from our research group (National Library of Medicine [NLM], NCT04531696)[151]. This study consists on extensive post-mortem multilevel and multi-region sample analysis of women who died for metastatic BC in order to unravel BC evolution, biology, heterogeneity, and treatment resistance. One of the novelty of this study is that digital pathology and molecular analyses of adipocyte will be performed on the different metastatic lesions collected during the autopsy. The initial pilot phase with the

53

analysis of the first two patients is completed and we were able to perform CAAs analysis on various metastatic sites.

Finally, we believe that our analysis can be expanded to the AT TME of other cancer types. For example, several studies described bone marrow adipose tissue (BMAT) as a niche for tumor cells, for both solid and hematologic malignancies[152,153]. Bones are one of the favorite site of metastases in HR<sup>+</sup> BC, therefore it will be important to study how adipocytes of BMAT contributes to creating a unique metastatic niche[154].

To conclude, while the work presented here aims to characterize mammary adipocytes in BC patients using digital pathology, future studies with larger number of patients combining this type of analysis with multi-omics approaches are necessary to provide further insights in the link between obesity and BC.

# References

- [1] ECIS European Cancer Information System. 2020 Cancer incidence and mortality in EU-27 countries | EU Science Hub 2020. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/news/2020-cancer-incidence-and-mortality-eu-27-countries.
- [2] Carioli G, Malvezzi M, Rodriguez T, Bertuccio P, Negri E, La Vecchia C. Trends and predictions to 2020 in breast cancer mortality in Europe. Breast 2017;36:89–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2017.06.003.
- [3] Redig AJ, Mcallister SS. Breast cancer as a systemic disease: a view of metastasis n.d. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12084.
- [4] Lehmann BD, Bauer JA, Chen X, Sanders ME, Chakravarthy AB, Shyr Y, et al. Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. J Clin Invest 2011;121:2750–67. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45014.
- [5] Lehmann BD, Jovanović B, Chen X, Estrada M V., Johnson KN, Shyr Y, et al. Refinement of triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtypes: Implications for neoadjuvant chemotherapy selection. PLoS One 2016;11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157368.
- [6] Perou CM, Sørile T, Eisen MB, Van De Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Ress CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature 2000;406:747–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/35021093.
- [7] Sørlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:10869–74. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.191367098.
- [8] Sotiriou C, Neo SY, McShane LM, Korn EL, Long PM, Jazaeri A, et al. Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:10393–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1732912100.
- [9] Bernard PS, Parker JS, Mullins M, Cheung MCU, Leung S, Voduc D, et al. Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:1160–7. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.18.1370.
- [10] Vieira AF, Schmitt F. An Update on Breast Cancer Multigene Prognostic Tests—Emergent Clinical Biomarkers. Front Med 2018;5:248. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2018.00248.
- [11] Sparano JA, Gray RJ, Makower DF, Pritchard KI, Albain KS, Hayes DF, et al. Adjuvant Chemotherapy Guided by a 21-Gene Expression Assay in Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med 2018;379:111–21. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1804710.
- [12] Cardoso F, van't Veer LJ, Bogaerts J, Slaets L, Viale G, Delaloge S, et al. 70-Gene Signature as an Aid to Treatment Decisions in Early-Stage Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med 2016;375:717–29. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1602253.
- [13] Dias AS, Almeida CR, Helguero LA, Duarte IF. Metabolic crosstalk in the breast cancer microenvironment. Eur J Cancer 2019;121:154–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2019.09.002.
- [14] Adams S, Gray RJ, Demaria S, Goldstein L, Perez EA, Shulman LN, et al. Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers from two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials: ECOG 2197 and ECOG 1199. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:2959–66. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.55.0491.

- [15] Loi S, Michiels S, Salgado R, Sirtaine N, Jose V, Fumagalli D, et al. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes are prognostic in triple negative breast cancer and predictive for trastuzumab benefit in early breast cancer: Results from the FinHER trial. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1544–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu112.
- [16] Salgado R, Denkert C, Demaria S, Sirtaine N, Klauschen F, Pruneri G, et al. The evaluation of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILS) in breast cancer: Recommendations by an International TILS Working Group 2014. Ann Oncol 2015;26:259–71. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu450.
- [17] Tang H, Qiao J, Fu YX. Immunotherapy and tumor microenvironment. Cancer Lett 2016;370:85–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.009.
- [18] Zhang Y, Zhang Z. The history and advances in cancer immunotherapy: understanding the characteristics of tumor-infiltrating immune cells and their therapeutic implications. Cell Mol Immunol 2020;17:807–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0488-6.
- [19] Murciano-Goroff YR, Warner AB, Wolchok JD. The future of cancer immunotherapy: microenvironment-targeting combinations. Cell Res 2020;30:507–19. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-0337-2.
- [20] Sahai E, Astsaturov I, Cukierman E, DeNardo DG, Egeblad M, Evans RM, et al. A framework for advancing our understanding of cancer-associated fibroblasts. Nat Rev Cancer 2020;20:174– 86. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0238-1.
- [21] Duong MN, Geneste A, Fallone F, Li X, Dumontet C, Muller C. The fat and the bad: Mature adipocytes, key actors in tumor progression and resistance. Oncotarget 2017;8:57622–41. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18038.
- [22] Zwick RK, Guerrero-Juarez CF, Horsley V, Plikus M V. Anatomical, Physiological, and Functional Diversity of Adipose Tissue. Cell Metab 2018;27:68–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.12.002.
- [23] Ward ZJ, Bleich SN, Cradock AL, Barrett JL, Giles CM, Flax C, et al. Projected U.S. State-Level Prevalence of Adult Obesity and Severe Obesity. N Engl J Med 2019;381:2440–50.
- [24] Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of Overweight, Obesity, and Extreme Obesity Among Adults Aged 20 and Over: United States, 1960–1962 Through 2013–2014. 2016.
- [25] Krzysztoszek J, Laudańska-Krzemińska I, Bronikowski M. Assessment of epidemiological obesity among adults in EU countries. Ann Agric Environ Med 2019;26:341–9. https://doi.org/10.26444/aaem/97226.
- [26] WHO/Europe | Nutrition Body mass index BMI n.d. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/nutrition/a-healthy-lifestyle/body-mass-index-bmi.
- [27] Renehan AG, Zwahlen M, Egger M. Adiposity and cancer risk: New mechanistic insights from epidemiology. Nat Rev Cancer 2015;15:484–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3967.
- [28] Jiralerspong S, Goodwin PJ. Obesity and breast cancer prognosis: Evidence, challenges, and opportunities. vol. 34. American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2016. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.68.4480.
- [29] Suzuki R, Orsini N, Saji S, Key TJ, Wolk A. Body weight and incidence of breast cancer defined by estrogen and progesterone receptor status-A meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2009;124:698– 712. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.23943.
- [30] Picon-Ruiz M, Morata-Tarifa C, Valle-Goffin JJ, Friedman ER, Slingerland JM. Obesity and

adverse breast cancer risk and outcome: Mechanistic insights and strategies for intervention. CA Cancer J Clin 2017;67:378–97. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21405.

- [31] Park JW, Han K, Shin DW, Yeo Y, Chang JW, Yoo JE, et al. Obesity and breast cancer risk for pre- and postmenopausal women among over 6 million Korean women. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2020:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-020-05952-4.
- [32] Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet 2008;371:569–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60269-X.
- [33] Pierobon M, Frankenfeld CL. Obesity as a risk factor for triple-negative breast cancers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013;137:307–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-012-2339-3.
- [34] Ewertz M, Jensen MB, Gunnarsdóttir KÁ, Højris I, Jakobsen EH, Nielsen D, et al. Effect of obesity on prognosis after early-stage breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 2011;29:25–31. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.29.7614.
- [35] Protani M, Coory M, Martin JH. Effect of obesity on survival of women with breast cancer: Systematic review and meta-Analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2010;123:627–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-010-0990-0.
- [36] Chan DSM, Vieira AR, Aune D, Bandera E V., Greenwood DC, McTiernan A, et al. Body mass index and survival in women with breast cancer—systematic literature review and metaanalysis of 82 follow-up studies. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1901–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdu042.
- [37] Pan H, Gray RG. Effect of obesity in premenopausal ER+ early breast cancer: EBCTCG data on 80,000 patients in 70 trials. J Clin Oncol 2014;32:503–503. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2014.32.15\_suppl.503.
- [38] Dawood S, Lei X, Litton JK, Buchholz TA, Hortobagyi GN, Gonzalez-Angulo AM. Impact of body mass index on survival outcome among women with early stage triple-negative breast cancer. Clin Breast Cancer 2012;12:364–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clbc.2012.07.013.
- [39] Blair CK, Wiggins CL, Nibbe AM, Storlie CB, Prossnitz ER, Royce M, et al. Obesity and survival among a cohort of breast cancer patients is partially mediated by tumor characteristics. Npj Breast Cancer 2019;5:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-019-0128-4.
- [40] Lohmann AE, Soldera S V, Pimentel I, Ribnikar D, Ennis M, Amir E, et al. Association of Obesity with Breast Cancer Outcome in Relation to Cancer Subtypes: A Meta-Analysis. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst 2021. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djab023.
- [41] Sestak I, Distler W, Forbes JF, Dowsett M, Howell A, Cuzick J. Effect of body mass index on recurrences in tamoxifen and anastrozole treated women: An exploratory analysis from the ATAC trial. J Clin Oncol 2010;28:3411–5. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.27.2021.
- [42] Griggs JJ, Sorbero MES, Lyman GH. Undertreatment of obese women receiving breast cancer chemotherapy. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:1267–73. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.11.1267.
- [43] Vaysse C, Muller C, Fallone F. Obesity: An heavyweight player in breast cancer's chemoresistance. Oncotarget 2019;10:3207–8. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.26905.
- [44] Lehuédé C, Li X, Dauvillier S, Vaysse C, Franchet C, Clement E, et al. Adipocytes promote breast cancer resistance to chemotherapy, a process amplified by obesity: Role of the major

vault protein (MVP). Breast Cancer Res 2019;21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-018-1088-6.

- [45] Sabol RA, Villela VA, Denys A, Freeman BT, Hartono AB, Wise RM, et al. Obesity-altered adipose stem cells promote radiation resistance of estrogen receptor positive breast cancer through paracrine signaling. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21082722.
- [46] Schech A, Yu S, Goloubeva O, McLenithan J, Sabnis G. A nude mouse model of obesity to study the mechanisms of resistance to aromatase inhibitors. Endocr Relat Cancer 2015;22:645–56. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-15-0168.
- [47] Cao Y. Obesity Protects Cancer from Drugs Targeting Blood Vessels. Cell Metab 2018;27:1163– 5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2018.05.014.
- [48] Desmedt C, Fornili M, Clatot F, Demicheli R, de Bortoli D, Di Leo A, et al. Differential benefit of adjuvant docetaxel-based chemotherapy in patients with early breast cancer according to baseline body mass index. J Clin Oncol 2020;38:2883–91. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.01771.
- [49] Floris G, Richard F, Hamy A-S, Jongen L, Wildiers H, Ardui J, et al. Body Mass Index and Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst n.d.;113:146–53. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djaa090.
- [50] Kim CH. Measurements of Adiposity and Body Composition. Korean J Obes 2016;25:115–20. https://doi.org/10.7570/kjo.2016.25.3.115.
- [51] Gonzalez MC, Correia MITD, Heymsfield SB. A requiem for BMI in the clinical setting. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2017;20:314–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCO.000000000395.
- [52] Geneva. Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio: Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. n.d.
- [53] Böhm A, Heitmann BL. The use of bioelectrical impedance analysis for body composition in epidemiological studies. Eur J Clin Nutr 2013;67:S79–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejcn.2012.168.
- [54] Seabolt LA, Welch EB, Silver HJ. Imaging methods for analyzing body composition in human obesity and cardiometabolic disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2015;1353:41–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12842.
- [55] Caan BJ, Cespedes Feliciano EM, Prado CM, Alexeeff S, Kroenke CH, Bradshaw P, et al. Association of muscle and adiposity measured by computed tomography with survival in patients with nonmetastatic breast cancer. JAMA Oncol 2018;4:798–804. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.0137.
- [56] Borga M, West J, Bell JD, Harvey NC, Romu T, Heymsfield SB, et al. Advanced body composition assessment: From body mass index to body composition profiling. J Investig Med 2018;66:887–95. https://doi.org/10.1136/jim-2018-000722.
- [57] Van Harmelen V, Skurk T, Röhrig K, Lee YM, Halbleib M, Aprath-Husmann I, et al. Effect of BMI and age on adipose tissue cellularity and differentiation capacity in women. Int J Obes 2003;27:889–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802314.
- [58] Vaysse C, Lømo J, Garred Ø, Fjeldheim F, Lofteroed T, Schlichting E, et al. Inflammation of mammary adipose tissue occurs in overweight and obese patients exhibiting early-stage breast cancer. Npj Breast Cancer 2017;3:19. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-017-0015-9.
- [59] Berger NA. Crown-like structures in breast adipose tissue from normal weight women: Important impact. Cancer Prev Res 2017;10:223–5. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-

17-0062.

- [60] Andò S, Gelsomino L, Panza S, Giordano C, Bonofiglio D, Barone I, et al. Obesity, leptin and breast cancer: Epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11:62. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11010062.
- [61] Kolb R, Zhang W. Obesity and breast cancer: A case of inflamed adipose tissue. Cancers (Basel) 2020;12:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12061686.
- [62] Agurs-Collins T, Ross SA, Dunn BK. The Many Faces of Obesity and Its Influence on Breast Cancer Risk. Front Oncol 2019;9:765. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00765.
- [63] Morris PG, Hudis CA, Giri D, Morrow M, Falcone DJ, Zhou XK, et al. Inflammation and increased aromatase expression occur in the breast tissue of obese women with breast cancer. Cancer Prev Res 2011;4:1021–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0110.
- [64] Kershaw EE, Flier JS. Adipose Tissue as an Endocrine Organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:2548–56. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2004-0395.
- [65] Qureshi R, Picon-Ruiz M, Aurrekoetxea-Rodriguez I, Nunes de Paiva V, D'Amico M, Yoon H, et al. The Major Pre- and Postmenopausal Estrogens Play Opposing Roles in Obesity-Driven Mammary Inflammation and Breast Cancer Development. Cell Metab 2020;31:1154-1172.e9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.05.008.
- [66] Silvestris E, de Pergola G, Rosania R, Loverro G. Obesity as disruptor of the female fertility. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 2018;16:22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12958-018-0336-z.
- [67] Schoemaker MJ, Nichols HB, Wright LB, Brook MN, Jones ME, O'Brien KM, et al. Association of Body Mass Index and Age with Subsequent Breast Cancer Risk in Premenopausal Women. JAMA Oncol 2018;4:181771. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.1771.
- [68] Stern JH, Rutkowski JM, Scherer PE. Adiponectin, Leptin, and Fatty Acids in the Maintenance of Metabolic Homeostasis through Adipose Tissue Crosstalk. Cell Metab 2016;23:770–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2016.04.011.
- [69] Jardé T, Perrier S, Vasson MP, Caldefie-Chézet F. Molecular mechanisms of leptin and adiponectin in breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 2011;47:33–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2010.09.005.
- [70] Chu, Phuong, Tien, Tran, Nguyen, Thanh, et al. The Effects of Adipocytes on the Regulation of Breast Cancer in the Tumor Microenvironment: An Update. Cells 2019;8:857. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8080857.
- [71] Gérard C, Brown KA. Obesity and breast cancer Role of estrogens and the molecular underpinnings of aromatase regulation in breast adipose tissue. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2018;466:15–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2017.09.014.
- [72] Gallagher EJ, Leroith D. The Proliferating Role of Insulin and Insulin-Like Growth Factors in Cancer 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2010.06.007.
- [73] Lorincz AM, Sukumar S. Molecular links between obesity and breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2006;13:279–92. https://doi.org/10.1677/erc.1.00729.
- [74] Murphy N, Knuppel A, Papadimitriou N, Martin RM, Tsilidis KK, Smith-Byrne K, et al. Insulinlike growth factor-1, insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3, and breast cancer risk: observational and Mendelian randomization analyses with ~430 000 women. Ann Oncol 2020;31:641–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annonc.2020.01.066.

- [75] Morris PG, Hudis CA, Giri D, Morrow M, Falcone DJ, Zhou XK, et al. Breast Tissue of Obese Women With Breast Cancer. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2011;4:1021–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-11-0110.Inflammation.
- [76] Iyengar NM, Morris PG, Zhou XK, Gucalp A, Giri D, Harbus MD, et al. Menopause is a determinant of breast adipose inflammation. Cancer Prev Res 2015;8:349–58. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0243.
- [77] Subbaramaiah K, Howe LR, Bhardwaj P, Du B, Gravaghi C, Yantiss RK, et al. Obesity is associated with inflammation and elevated aromatase expression in the mouse mammary gland. Cancer Prev Res 2011;4:329–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-10-0381.
- [78] Iyengar NM, Brown KA, Zhou XK, Gucalp A, Subbaramaiah K, Giri DD, et al. Metabolic obesity, adipose inflammation and elevated breast aromatase in women with normal body mass index. Cancer Prev Res 2017;10:235–43. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-16-0314.
- [79] Iyengar NM, Zhou XK, Gucalp A, Morris PG, Howe LR, Giri DD, et al. Systemic Correlates of White Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Early-Stage Breast Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2016;22:2283–9. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2239.
- [80] Iyengar NM, Chen IC, Zhou XK, Giri DD, Falcone DJ, Winston LA, et al. Adiposity, inflammation, and breast cancer pathogenesis in Asian Women. Cancer Prev Res 2018;11:227–36. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-17-0283.
- [81] Maliniak ML, Cheriyan AM, Cheriyan AM, Sherman ME, Liu Y, Liu Y, et al. Detection of crownlike structures in breast adipose tissue and clinical outcomes among African-American and White women with breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2020;22:65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-020-01308-4.
- [82] Hosogai N, Fukuhara A, Oshima K, Miyata Y, Tanaka S, Segawa K, et al. Adipose tissue hypoxia in obesity and its impact on adipocytokine dysregulation. Diabetes 2007;56:901–11. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-0911.
- [83] Tilg H, Moschen AR. Adipocytokines: Mediators linking adipose tissue, inflammation and immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2006;6:772–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1937.
- [84] Gyamfi J, Eom M, Koo JS, Choi J. Multifaceted Roles of Interleukin-6 in Adipocyte–Breast Cancer Cell Interaction. Transl Oncol 2018;11:275–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranon.2017.12.009.
- [85] Madak-Erdogan Z, Band S, Zhao YC, Smith BP, Kulkoyluoglu-Cotul E, Zuo Q, et al. Free fatty acids rewire cancer metabolism in obesity-associated breast cancer via estrogen receptor and mTOR signaling. Cancer Res 2019;79:2494–510. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2849.
- [86] Song YC, Lee SE, Jin Y, Park HW, Chun KH, Lee HW. Classifying the linkage between adipose tissue inflammation and tumor growth through cancer-associated adipocytes. Mol Cells 2020;43:763–73. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2020.0118.
- [87] Quail DF, Dannenberg AJ. The obese adipose tissue microenvironment in cancer development and progression. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019;15:139–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-018-0126-x.
- [88] Sun K, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity. J Clin Invest 2011;121:2094–101. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45887.
- [89] Faria SS, Corrêa LH, Heyn GS, de Sant'Ana LP, Almeida RDN, Magalhães KG. Obesity and breast

cancer: The role of crown-like structures in breast adipose tissue in tumor progression, prognosis, and therapy. J Breast Cancer 2020;23:233–45. https://doi.org/10.4048/jbc.2020.23.e35.

- [90] Russo L, Lumeng CN. Properties and functions of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity. Immunology 2018;155:407–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.13002.
- [91] Bourlier V, Zakaroff-Girard A, Miranville A, De Barros S, Maumus M, Sengenes C, et al. Remodeling phenotype of human subcutaneous adipose tissue macrophages. Circulation 2008;117:806–15. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.724096.
- [92] Springer NL, Iyengar NM, Bareja R, Verma A, Jochelson MS, Giri DD, et al. Obesity-Associated Extracellular Matrix Remodeling Promotes a Macrophage Phenotype Similar to Tumor-Associated Macrophages. Am J Pathol 2019;189:2019–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.06.005.
- [93] Tiwari P, Blank A, Cui C, Schoenfelt KQ, Zhou G, Xu Y, et al. Metabolically activated adipose tissue macrophages link obesity to triple-negative breast cancer. J Exp Med 2019;216:1345– 58. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20181616.
- [94] Cohen IJ, Blasberg R. Impact of the Tumor Microenvironment on Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes: Focus on Breast Cancer. Breast Cancer Basic Clin Res 2017;11. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178223417731565.
- [95] Denkert C, von Minckwitz G, Darb-Esfahani S, Lederer B, Heppner BI, Weber KE, et al. Tumourinfiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis in different subtypes of breast cancer: a pooled analysis of 3771 patients treated with neoadjuvant therapy. Lancet Oncol 2018;19:40–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30904-X.
- [96] Loi S, Drubay D, Adams S, Pruneri G, Francis PA, Lacroix-Triki M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and prognosis: A pooled individual patient analysis of early-stage triple-negative breast cancers. J Clin Oncol 2019;37:559–69. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.18.01010.
- [97] Ochi T, Bianchini G, Ando M, Nozaki F, Kobayashi D, Criscitiello C, et al. Predictive and prognostic value of stromal tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes before and after neoadjuvant therapy in triple negative and HER2-positive breast cancer. Eur J Cancer 2019;118:41–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2019.05.014.
- [98] Park JH, Jonas SF, Bataillon G, Criscitiello C, Salgado R, Loi S, et al. Prognostic value of tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes in patients with early-stage triple-negative breast cancers (TNBC) who did not receive adjuvant chemotherapy. Ann Oncol 2019;30:1941–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdz395.
- [99] Lokuhetty D, White V, Watanabe R, Cree I. WHO Classification of Breast Tumours . vol. 2. 5th ed. 2019.
- [100] Wang Z, Aguilar EG, Luna JI, Dunai C, Khuat LT, Le CT, et al. Paradoxical effects of obesity on T cell function during tumor progression and PD-1 checkpoint blockade. Nat Med 2019;25:141– 51. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0221-5.
- [101] Strong AL, Pei DT, Hurst CG, Gimble JM, Burow ME, Bunnell BA. Obesity enhances the conversion of adipose-derived stromal/stem cells into carcinoma-associated fibroblast leading to cancer cell proliferation and progression to an invasive phenotype. Stem Cells Int 2017;2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9216502.
- [102] Liu T, Han C, Wang S, Fang P, Ma Z, Xu L, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts: An emerging target of anti-cancer immunotherapy. J Hematol Oncol 2019;12:86.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-019-0770-1.

- [103] Costa A, Kieffer Y, Scholer-Dahirel A, Pelon F, Bourachot B, Cardon M, et al. Fibroblast Heterogeneity and Immunosuppressive Environment in Human Breast Cancer. Cancer Cell 2018;33:463-479.e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.01.011.
- [104] Gok Yavuz B, Gunaydin G, Gedik ME, Kosemehmetoglu K, Karakoc D, Ozgur F, et al. Cancer associated fibroblasts sculpt tumour microenvironment by recruiting monocytes and inducing immunosuppressive PD-1 + TAMs. Sci Rep 2019;9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39553-z.
- [105] Ramsay DT, Kent JC, Hartmann RA, Hartmann PE. Anatomy of the lactating human breast redefined with ultrasound imaging. J Anat 2005;206:525–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2005.00417.x.
- [106] Lengyel E, Makowski L, DiGiovanni J, Kolonin MG. Cancer as a Matter of Fat: The Crosstalk between Adipose Tissue and Tumors. Trends in Cancer 2018;4:374–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2018.03.004.
- [107] Kothari C, Diorio C, Durocher F. The importance of breast adipose tissue in breast cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21:1–33. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21165760.
- [108] Dirat B, Bochet L, Escourrou G, Valet P, Muller C. Unraveling the obesity and breast cancer links: A role for cancer-associated adipocytes? Endocr Dev 2010;19:45–52. https://doi.org/10.1159/000316896.
- [109] Cozzo AJ, Fuller AM, Makowski L. Contribution of adipose tissue to development of cancer. Compr Physiol 2018;8:237–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c170008.
- [110] Zaoui M, Morel M, Ferrand N, Fellahi S, Bastard J-PP, Lamazière A, et al. Breast-Associated Adipocytes Secretome Induce Fatty Acid Uptake and Invasiveness in Breast Cancer Cells via CD36 Independently of Body Mass Index, Menopausal Status and Mammary Density. Cancers (Basel) 2019;11:2012. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11122012.
- [111] Almekinders MMM, Schaapveld M, Thijssen B, Visser LL, Bismeijer T, Sanders J, et al. Breast adipocyte size associates with ipsilateral invasive breast cancer risk after ductal carcinoma in situ. Npj Breast Cancer 2021;7:31. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-021-00232-w.
- [112] Cao Y. Adipocyte and lipid metabolism in cancer drug resistance. J Clin Invest 2019;129:3006– 17. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI127201.
- [113] Dirat B, Bochet L, Dabek M, Daviaud D, Dauvillier S, Majed B, et al. Cancer-associated adipocytes exhibit an activated phenotype and contribute to breast cancer invasion. Cancer Res 2011;71:2455–65. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3323.
- [114] Attané C, Muller C. Drilling for Oil: Tumor-Surrounding Adipocytes Fueling Cancer. Trends in Cancer 2020;6:593–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2020.03.001.
- [115] Sun SS, Wu Q, Li J, Li Z, Sun SS, Zhu S, et al. Exosomes from the tumour-adipocyte interplay stimulate beige/brown differentiation and reprogram metabolism in stromal adipocytes to promote tumour progression. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2019;38. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1210-3.
- [116] Bochet L, Lehuédé C, Dauvillier S, Wang YY, Dirat B, Laurent V, et al. Adipocyte-derived fibroblasts promote tumor progression and contribute to the desmoplastic reaction in breast cancer. Cancer Res 2013;73:5657–68. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0530.
- [117] Wu Q, Li B, Li Z, Li J, Sun S, Sun S. Cancer-associated adipocytes: Key players in breast cancer

progression. J Hematol Oncol 2019;12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-019-0778-6.

- [118] KIM HM, LEE YK, KIM ES, KOO JS. Energy transfer from adipocytes to cancer cells in breast cancer. Neoplasma 2020. https://doi.org/10.4149/neo\_2020\_191017n1050.
- [119] Bochet L, Meulle A, Imbert S, Salles B, Valet P, Muller C. Cancer-associated adipocytes promotes breast tumor radioresistance. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2011;411:102–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.06.101.
- [120] Muir LA, Neeley CK, Meyer KA, Baker NA, Brosius AM, Washabaugh AR, et al. Adipose tissue fibrosis, hypertrophy, and hyperplasia: Correlations with diabetes in human obesity. Obesity 2016;24:597–605. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21377.
- [121] Di Girolamo M, Mendlinger S, Fertig JW. A simple method to determine fat cell size and number in four mammalian species. Am J Physiol 1971;221:850–8. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1971.221.3.850.
- [122] Maroni,' BJ, Haesemeyer R, Wilson LK, Digirolamo M. Electronic determination of size and number in isolated unfixed adipocyte populations1. vol. 31. 1990.
- [123] Etherton TD, Thompson EH, Allen CE. Improved techniques for studies of adipocyte cellularity and metabolism'. n.d.
- [124] Laforest S, Michaud A, Paris G, Pelletier M, Vidal H, Géloën A, et al. Comparative analysis of three human adipocyte size measurement methods and their relevance for cardiometabolic risk. Obesity 2017;25:122–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21697.
- [125] Svensson H, Olausson D, Holmäng A, Jennische E, Edén S, Lönn M. Free lipid and computerized determination of adipocyte size. Adipocyte 2018;7:180–2. https://doi.org/10.1080/21623945.2018.1489335.
- [126] Dobbs JL, Shin D, Krishnamurthy S, Kuerer H, Yang W, Richards-Kortum R. Confocal fluorescence microscopy to evaluate changes in adipocytes in the tumor microenvironment associated with invasive ductal carcinoma and ductal carcinoma in situ. Int J Cancer 2016;139:1140–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.30160.
- [127] Galarraga M, Campión J, Muñoz-Barrutia A, Boqué N, Moreno H, Martínez JA, et al. Adiposoft: automated software for the analysis of white adipose tissue cellularity in histological sections. J Lipid Res 2012;53:2791–6. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.D023788.
- [128] Chen HC, Farese R V. Determination of adipocyte size by computer image analysis. J Lipid Res 2002;43:986–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-2275(20)30474-0.
- [129] Zhi X, Wang J, Lu P, Jia J, Shen H Bin, Ning G. AdipoCount: A new software for automatic adipocyte counting. Front Physiol 2018;9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00085.
- [130] Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 2012;9:671–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2089.
- [131] Bankhead P, Loughrey MB, Fernández JA, Dombrowski Y, McArt DG, Dunne PD, et al. QuPath: Open source software for digital pathology image analysis. Sci Rep 2017;7:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17204-5.
- [132] Greenlee H, Shi Z, Hibshoosh H, Giri DD, Ahmed A, Williams S, et al. Obesity-associated breast inflammation among Hispanic/Latina breast cancer patients. Cancer Prev Res 2019;12:21–30. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-18-0207.
- [133] Isnaldi E, Richard F, De Schepper M, Vincent D, Leduc S, Maetens M, et al. Digital analysis of

distant and cancer-associated mammary adipocytes. Breast 2020;54:179–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2020.10.004.

- [134] Vandeweyer E, Hertens D. Quantification of glands and fat in breast tissue: An experimental determination. Ann Anat 2002;184:181–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0940-9602(02)80016-4.
- [135] Sheng X, Parmentier J-H, Tucci J, Pei H, Cortez-Toledo O, Dieli-Conwright CM, et al. Metabolism Adipocytes Sequester and Metabolize the Chemotherapeutic Daunorubicin 2017. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-17-0338.
- [136] Balaban S, Shearer RF, Lee LS, van Geldermalsen M, Schreuder M, Shtein HC, et al. Adipocyte lipolysis links obesity to breast cancer growth: adipocyte-derived fatty acids drive breast cancer cell proliferation and migration. Cancer Metab 2017;5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40170-016-0163-7.
- [137] (NCD-RisC) NCDRFC. Trends in adult body-mass index in 200 countries from 1975 to 2014: a pooled analysis of 1698 population-based measurement studies with 19.2 million participants. Lancet 2016;387:1377–96.
- [138] Mohanty SS, Mohanty PK. Obesity as potential breast cancer risk factor for postmenopausal women. Genes Dis 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2019.09.006.
- [139] Ferreira R, Nogueira-Ferreira R, Vitorino R, Santos LL, Moreira-Gonçalves D. The impact of exercise training on adipose tissue remodelling in cancer cachexia. Porto Biomed J 2017;2:333–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.02.006.
- [140] Zhao Y-X, Sun Y-L, Ye J-H, Zhang Y, Shi X-B, Wang J-M, et al. The Relationship Between White Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Overweight/Obesity in Chinese Female Breast Cancer: A Retrospective Study. Adv Ther 2020;37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12325-020-01368-0.
- [141] Fitzgerald SJ, Janorkar AV, Barnes A, Maranon RO. A new approach to study the sex differences in adipose tissue. J Biomed Sci 2018;25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-018-0488-3.
- [142] Muller C. Tumour-surrounding adipocytes are active players in breast cancer progression. Ann Endocrinol (Paris) 2013;74:108–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ando.2013.02.007.
- [143] Lupien LE, Bloch K, Dehairs J, Traphagen NA, Feng WW, Davis WL, et al. Endocytosis of very low-density lipoproteins: an unexpected mechanism for lipid acquisition by breast cancer cells. J Lipid Res 2020;61:205–18. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.RA119000327.
- [144] Spalding KL, Arner E, Westermark PO, Bernard S, Buchholz BA, Bergmann O, et al. Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans. Nature 2008;453:783–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06902.
- [145] Jo J, Gavrilova O, Pack S, Jou W, Mullen S, Sumner AE, et al. Hypertrophy and/or hyperplasia: Dynamics of adipose tissue growth. PLoS Comput Biol 2009;5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000324.
- [146] Acosta JR, Joost S, Karlsson K, Ehrlund A, Li X, Aouadi M, et al. Single cell transcriptomics suggest that human adipocyte progenitor cells constitute a homogeneous cell population. Stem Cell Res Ther 2017;8:250. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0701-4.
- [147] Ramirez AK, Dankel SN, Rastegarpanah B, Cai W, Xue R, Crovella M, et al. Single-cell transcriptional networks in differentiating preadipocytes suggest drivers associated with tissue heterogeneity. Nat Commun 2020;11:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-16019-9.
- [148] Sun W, Dong H, Balaz M, Slyper M, Drokhlyansky E, Colleluori G, et al. snRNA-seq reveals a

subpopulation of adipocytes that regulates thermogenesis. Nature 2020;587:98–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2856-x.

- [149] Rajbhandari P, Arneson D, Hart SK, Ahn IS, Diamante G, Santos LC, et al. Single cell analysis reveals immune cell-adipocyte crosstalk regulating the transcription of thermogenic adipocytes. Elife 2019;8. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.49501.
- [150] FATLAS: Comprehensive Multi-level Characterization of Systemic and Mammary Adiposity in Breast Cancer Patients. - Identifier NCT04200768. Natl Libr Med (US) n.d. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04200768.
- [151] UZ/KU Leuven Program for Post-mortem Tissue Donation to Enhance Research (UPTIDER) -Identifier NCT04531696. Natl Libr Med (US) n.d. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04531696.
- [152] Templeton ZS, Lie WR, Wang W, Rosenberg-Hasson Y, Alluri R V., Tamaresis JS, et al. Breast Cancer Cell Colonization of the Human Bone Marrow Adipose Tissue Niche. Neoplasia (United States) 2015;17:849–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neo.2015.11.005.
- [153] Méndez-Ferrer S, Bonnet D, Steensma DP, Hasserjian RP, Ghobrial IM, Gribben JG, et al. Bone marrow niches in haematological malignancies. Nat Rev Cancer 2020;20:285–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-020-0245-2.
- [154] Shin E, Koo JS. The role of adipokines and bone marrow adipocytes in breast cancer bone metastasis. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21:1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21144967.

# Statements

## Personal Contribution

The author of this doctoral thesis was involved in the concept and design of the present study, sample analysis by digital pathology, statistical analysis, interpretation of the data, and writing of the manuscript.

## Scientific Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank all the patients who contributed to the present study.

The author would like to thank Christine Desmedt and Gabriele Zoppoli for their invaluable assistance in all the phases of this work, François Richard for his guidance regarding bioinformatic analysis and statistics, Denis Larsimont for his help in collecting data, defining criteria of adipocyte analysis, reviewing and selecting slides, Elia Biganzoli for the advanced statistics, Sophia Leduc for retrieving all the samples and scanning all the H&E slides into digital slides; Maxim De Schepper for his assistance during annotation process and for checking all the drawn annotations, Tatjana Geukens and Marion Maetens for their assistance in the design of the study, and Giuseppe Floris for scoring the TILs in all the scanned slides.

The present work was funded by the Belgian Cancer Foundation (FAF-C/2018/1302) and the Luxemburg Cancer Foundation (FC/2018/07).

## Conflicts of Interest

The author of this doctoral thesis and all the contributing authors declare no conflicts of interest.

# List of Publications

Almekinders MM, Schaapveld M, Thijssen B, Visser LL, Bismeijer T, Sanders J, <u>Isnaldi E</u>, Hofland I, Mertz M, Wessels LFA, Broeks A, Hooijberg E, Zwart W, Lips EH, Desmedt C, Wesseling J. Association of Breast Adipocyte Size and Cyclooxygenase-2 expression with Risk of Subsequent Ipsilateral Invasive Breast Cancer in Patients with Ductal Carcinoma In Situ. Npj Breast Cancer 2021;7:31. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41523-021-00232-w

The abovementioned research paper represented a part of the research focus of my PhD.

**Isnaldi E**, Richard F, De Schepper M, Vincent D, Leduc S, Maetens M, Geukens T, Floris G, Rouas G, Cardoso F, Sotiriou C, Zoppoli G, Larsimont D, Biganzoli E, Desmedt C. Digital analysis of distant and cancer-associated mammary adipocytes. Breast 2020;54:179–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2020.10.004.

Cirmena G, Garuti A, De Mariano M, Coco S, Ferrando L, <u>Isnaldi E</u>, Barbero V, Fregatti P, Del Mastro L, Ferrando F, Gonella R, Garlaschi A, Friedman D, Ballestrero A, Zoppoli G. Circulating Tumor DNA Using Tagged Targeted Deep Sequencing to Assess Minimal Residual Disease in Breast Cancer Patients Undergoing Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy. J Oncol 2020;2020:8132507. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8132507.

Ferrando L, Cirmena G, Garuti A, Scabini S, Grillo F, Mastracci L, <u>Isnaldi E</u>, Marrone C, Gonella R, Murialdo M, Fiocca R, Romairone E, Ballestrero A, Zoppoli G. Development of a long noncoding RNA signature for prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma. PLoS One 2020;15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226595.

**Isnaldi E**, Ferraioli D, Ferrando L, Brohée S, Ferrando F, Fregatti P, Bedognetti D, Ballestrero A, Zoppoli G. Schlafen-11 expression is associated with immune signatures and basal-like phenotype in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2019;177:335–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-019-05313-w.

**Isnaldi E**, Garuti A, Cirmena G, Scabini S, Rimini E, Ferrando L, Lia M, Murialdo R, Tixi L, Carminati E, Panaro A, Gallo M, Grillo F, Mastracci L, Repetto L, Fiocca R, Romairone E, Zoppoli G, Ballestrero A. Clinico-pathological associations and concomitant mutations of the RAS/RAF

pathway in metastatic colorectal cancer. J Transl Med 2019;17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-019-1879-2.

Cirmena G, Franceschelli P, <u>Isnaldi E</u>, Ferrando L, Di Mariano M , Ballestrero A, Zoppoli G. Squalene epoxidase as a promising metabolic target in cancer treatment. Cancer Lett 2018;425:13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2018.03.034.

Zoppoli G, Garuti A, Cirmena G, Verdun di Cantogno L, Botta C, Gallo M, Ferraioli D, Carminati E, Baccini P, Curto M, Fregatti P, <u>Isnaldi E</u>, Lia M, Murialdo R, Friedman D, Sapino A, Ballestrero A. Her2 assessment using quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction reliably identifies Her2 overexpression without amplification in breast cancer cases. J Transl Med 2017;15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-017-1195-7